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Strategic Report 

The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

1. Business Review 

The Company acts as a finance, investment and holding company and is the Company within the 
Group through which the Group’s primary external borrowings are held. 
 
The Company is also the sole sponsoring company of the GKN Group Pension Scheme and a 
principal sponsoring company of the GKN Group Pension Scheme 2012. The Company is a limited 
partner in GKN Investments LP which exists to improve the funding of the two GKN Group Pension 
Schemes.  The accounting and disclosure for this arrangement changed during 2013 following 
amendments to the pension partnership agreement agreed with the Trustees of the two Schemes.  
The result of this change is that the respective income interests no longer meet the criteria for 
recognition as an IAS 19 plan asset and have, consequently, been removed with an effective date of 
31 May 2013.  The accounting deficit for UK schemes increased to £714 million (2012: £341 million), 
primarily as a result of this amendment. More conservative mortality assumptions also contributed to 
the increase. 
 
Group sales rose by 10% to £7,594 million and profit before tax reached £578 million, 17% above 
2012’s level.  This progress was helped significantly by the first full year contribution from GKN 
Aerospace Engine Systems, formerly Volvo Aero, which has been successfully integrated into the 
Group.  
 
In aerospace, commercial markets remained strong, with record levels of aircraft orders and deliveries 
at both Airbus and Boeing.  In contrast, military output declined as governments around the world cut 
back their expenditure.  The strong contribution of GKN Aerospace Engine Systems helped GKN 
Aerospace overall to reach a record trading profit of £266 million.  The core aerospace business saw 
progress, but at a modest level.  Strong commercial sales were offset by a decline in military, and 
sales were also reduced due to Airbus taking back in-house a UK supply chain contract.  

In automotive markets, 2013 saw overall global output rising 4%, due to strong demand in China and 
North America, but with Europe broadly flat.  After a difficult start to the year, with a sharp first quarter 
decline, European production progressively recovered in the second half.  Against that backdrop, GKN 
Driveline and GKN Powder Metallurgy saw good organic sales growth of 7% and 6% respectively, 
comfortably above the increase in global automotive production.  Combined, the Group’s Automotive 
trading profit at £340 million was £18 million ahead of 2012.  

GKN Land Systems had a difficult year.  Its markets were challenging and sales were softened from 
the cessation, as planned, of two UK legacy chassis programmes.  Sales fell by 4% to £899 million, 
trading profit declined to £75 million and the margin to 8.3%.  

The Group overall ended the year with trading profit of £661 million, 20% above 2012, maintaining the 
strong growth record of the last few years.  The 2013 profit performance was also matched by good 
cash generation.  Group operating cash flow (generated from operations and adjusted for capital 
expenditure, government capital grants, proceeds from disposal of fixed assets and government 
refundable advances) increased to £470 million (2012: £207 million) and net debt declined to £732 
million. 
 
In December 2013 GKN Aerospace sold its 49% interest in the Composite Technology and 
Applications Limited (CTAL) JV to Rolls Royce for £3 million enabling Rolls Royce to progress the 
activities of CTAL in full alignment with its business plans.   
 
All figures in this review are presented on a management basis which aggregates the sales and 
trading profit of subsidiaries (excluding certain subsidiary businesses sold and closed) with the 
Group’s share of the sales and trading profit of joint ventures.  
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Strategic Report (continued) 

2. Financial resources and going concern 

At 31 December 2013, UK committed bank facilities were £917 million.  Within this amount there are 
committed revolving credit facilities of £837 million and an £80 million eight-year amortising facility 
from the European Investment Bank (EIB).  The next major maturities of the revolving credit facilities 
are for £595 million in 2016, whilst the first of five equal, annual £16 million EIB repayments falls due 
in 2015.  At 31 December 2013, the £80 million EIB facility was fully drawn and there were no 
drawings on any of the UK revolving credit facilities.  

Capital market borrowings at 31 December 2013 comprised a £350 million 6.75% annual unsecured 
bond maturing in October 2019 and a £450 million 5.375% semi-annual unsecured bond maturing in 
September 2022.  

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net borrowings of £732 million (31 December 2012: £871 
million).  

All of the Group’s committed credit facilities have financial covenants requiring EBITDA of subsidiaries 
to be at least 3.5 times net interest payable and for net debt to be no greater than 3 times EBITDA of 
subsidiaries.  The covenants are tested every six months using the previous 12 months’ results.  For 
the 12 months to 31 December 2013, EBITDA was 11.9 times greater than net interest payable, whilst 
net debt was 0.8 times EBITDA.  

The Directors have taken into account both divisional and Group forecasts for the 18 months from the 
balance sheet date to assess the future funding requirements of the Group and compared them to the 
level of committed available borrowing facilities, described above.  The Directors have concluded that 
the Group will have a sufficient level of headroom in the foreseeable future and that the likelihood of 
breaching covenants in this period is remote, such that it is appropriate for the financial statements to 
be prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

3. Principal Risks and Uncertainties  
 
The Company’s risk management process includes an assessment of the likelihood and potential 
impact of a range of events to determine the overall risk level and to identify actions necessary to 
mitigate their impact.  As a finance, investment and holding company within the GKN Group, aside 
from holding the Group’s external term loans, its dealings are almost exclusively intra Group 
transactions.  In this context, its significant risks and uncertainties are identified below.  In addition, 
risks which could have a material impact on the Group’s strategic objectives are given in the annual 
report of GKN plc for 2013 which does not form part of this report.  Additional risks not currently known 
or which are regarded as immaterial could also affect future performance. 
 
Pension deficit volatility 
 

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans with aggregate liabilities of £1,271 
million at 31 December 2013.  These plans are exposed to the risk of changes in asset values, 
discount rates, inflation and mortality assumptions.  Increases in the pension deficit could lead to a 
requirement for additional cash contributions to these schemes, thereby reducing the amount of cash 
available to meet the Group’s other operating, investment and financing requirements.  

 
This risk is managed through close co-operation with scheme fiduciaries regarding the management of 
pension scheme assets and liabilities, including asset selection and hedging actions.  Alternative 
funding and risk mitigation actions are also implemented where appropriate.  
 
Business continuity 
 
A major disruption to internal facilities or external supply chains could be caused by natural disaster, 
destruction of a key facility or asset, financial insolvency of a critical supplier or scarcity of supplies.  
The Group also has a small number of facilities and assets which are key to maintaining production 
levels for major customers and internal service levels.  In addition, certain of the Group’s businesses 
are exposed to a higher inherent risk of natural disasters because of their geographical locations. 
 
A sustained disruption to internal facilities, production or supply could result in major operational 
disruption, a significant adverse impact on the Group’s ability to meet customer requirements, result in 
additional contractual liabilities and have a consequential impact on financial performance.  
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Directors’ Report 

 
Directors: Mr N M Stein 
 Mrs J M Felton  
 Mr A C Walker 
 

1. Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities  

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the Group and Company financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each 
financial year.  Under that law, the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union (EU) and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom (UK) Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 
Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of their 
profit or loss for that period.  In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements the 
Directors are required to: 
 

 select appropriate accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU; 

 for the Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Company 
financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Group and the Company will continue in business. 

 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s and the Company’s transactions, disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Group and the Company, and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and as regards the Group financial statements, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.  

 
Each of the Directors as at the date of this report, whose names are set out above, confirm that to the 
best of their knowledge: 
 

 the Group financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,  give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and 
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and 

 the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. 

 
The auditors' responsibilities in relation to the accounts are set out in their report on pages 7 and 8. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

2. Financial Results 

The consolidated income statement of the Group shows a profit after taxation for the year of £403 
million (2012: £481 million).  
 
No interim dividend was paid during the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: £nil) and the Directors 
have not proposed a final dividend (2012: nil). 
 
 

3. Research and development  

Group subsidiaries undertake research and development work in support of their principal 
manufacturing activities.  Further details of the Group’s research and development activities can be 
found within the GKN plc 2013 annual report.  
 
 

4. Indemnities 

The Company has executed qualifying pension scheme indemnity provisions as defined by section 
235 of the Companies Act 2006, for the benefit of the Directors and Officers of GKN Group Pension 
Trustee Limited and GKN Group Pension Trustee (No 2) Limited, respectively the corporate trustees 
of the GKN Group Pension Scheme and the GKN Group Pension Scheme 2012.  
 

5. Directors 

The current Directors of the Company are set out on page 4 of this report.  Mr N M Stein and Mrs J M 
Felton served throughout the year.  Mr A C Walker was appointed to the Board with effect from 26 
February 2014.  Mr W C Seeger served on the Board throughout the year and retired from the Board 
with effect from 25 February 2014.  The Board wishes to record its appreciation of the significant 
contribution that Mr Seeger made during his tenure as a member of the Board.    

 

6. Employees 

Consultation with employees or their representatives has continued at all levels, with the aim of 
ensuring that their views are taken into account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their 
interests and that all employees are aware of the financial and economic performance of their 
business units and of the company as a whole.  Communication with employees is promoted through 
a variety of means including in-house newsletters, briefing meetings and the GKN intranet which 
provides access to Group information, news, policies and procedures.  

 
7. Disabled Persons 

The Company's policy in relation to the employment of disabled persons is to give full consideration to 
job applications received from disabled persons.  Candidates are selected and appointed on the basis 
of their ability to perform the duties of the job.  Where appropriate, special training is given to facilitate 
engagement of the disabled and modifications to the job will be considered.  Where an employee 
becomes disabled whilst employed by the Company, arrangements will be made wherever possible 
for re-training in order that a different job may be performed.  Consideration for modifying jobs will be 
given. 
 
 

8. Financial Instruments  

Details of the Group’s use of financial instruments can be found in Note 18 to the financial statements.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GKN HOLDINGS PLC 
 
Report on the group financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements, defined below: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2013 and of its profit and 
cash flows for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. 

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report. 

What we have audited 

The Group financial statements (the “financial statements”), which are prepared by GKN Holdings plc, 
comprise: 

 the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year 
then ended; 

 the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2013; 

 the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union. 

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, 
for example in respect of significant accounting estimates.  In making such estimates, they have made 
assumptions and considered future events. 

What an audit of financial statements involves 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK 
& Ireland)”).  An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  This includes an assessment of:  

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed;  

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and  

 the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit.  If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Adequacy of information and explanations received 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for our audit.  We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.  

Directors’ remuneration 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of 
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made.  We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.   
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Consolidated Income Statement 

For the year ended 31 December 2013 

 Note 2013  2012* 
   £m  £m  

    
Sales 2 7,136  6,510  

    

 Trading profit   597  504  
 Change in value of derivative and other financial instruments  26  126  
 Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on      
  business combinations  (75) (37) 
 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure  12  5  
 Reversal of inventory fair value adjustment arising on     
  business combinations  -  (37) 
 Pension scheme curtailments  -  63  

Operating profit 4 560  624  
    
Share of post-tax earnings of joint ventures 11 52  38  

    

  Interest payable  (76) (60) 
  Interest receivable  3  8  
  Other net financing charges  (55) (42) 

Net financing costs 5 (128) (94) 
     

Profit before taxation   484  568  
    
Taxation 6 (81) (87) 

Profit after taxation for the year   403  481  

    

Profit attributable to other non-controlling interests  4  3  
Profit attributable to the Pension partnership  8  20  

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests  12  23  
Profit attributable to owners of the parent  391  458  

   403  481  

    
 
 
*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 December 2013 

 Note 2013  2012* 
  £m  £m  

Profit after taxation for the year  403  481  
Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    
Currency variations – subsidiaries    
 Arising in year  (114) (134) 
 Reclassified in year  -  (4) 
Currency variations – joint ventures    
 Arising in year 11 (1) (3) 
 Reclassified in year  -  -  
Derivative financial instruments – transactional hedging    
 Arising in year  -  13  
 Reclassified in year  -  (13) 
Taxation 6 1  7  

  (114) (134) 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans    
 Subsidiaries 22 60  (152) 
 Joint ventures  -  (2) 
Taxation 6 (28) 96  

  32  (58) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  321  289  

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:    
 Owners of the parent  311  267  

 Other non-controlling interests  2  2  
 Pension partnership  8  20  

 Non-controlling interests  10  22  

  321  289  
 
*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2013 

     Other reserves  
Non-controlling 

interests  

 Note 

Share  
capital  

£m  

Share  
premium  
account  

£m  

Retained  
earnings  

£m  

Exchange  
reserve  

£m  

Hedging  
reserve  

£m  

Other  
reserves  

£m  

Share-  
holders’  

equity  
£m  

Pension  
partner-  

ship  
£m 

 
 

Other  
£m  

Total  
equity  

£m  

At 1 January 2013**  362  301  3,136  223  (197) (134) 3,691  334  19  4,044  

Profit for the year  -  -  391  -  -  -  391  8  4  403  

Other comprehensive             

 income/(expense)  -  -  32  (112) -  -  (80) -  (2) (82) 

Share-based payments 8 -  -  14  -  -  -  14  -  -  14  

Distribution from Pension            

 partnership to UK Pension scheme 22 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (10) -  (10) 

Amendment to the Pension partnership            

 arrangement 22 -  -  (10) -  -  -  (10) (332) -  (342) 

Addition of non-controlling interests 21 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2  2  

Dividends paid to non-controlling             

 interests  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (3) (3) 

At 31 December 2013  362  301  3,563  111  (197) (134) 4,006  -  20  4,026  

At 1 January 2012  362  301  2,730  356  (197) (133) 3,419  344  28  3,791  

Profit for the year*  -  -  458  -  -  -  458  20  3  481  

Other comprehensive             

 income/(expense)*  -  -  (58) (133) -  -  (191) -  (1) (192) 

Share-based payments 8 -  -  6   -  -  -  6  -  -  6  

Distribution from Pension            

 partnership to UK Pension scheme 22 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (30) -  (30) 

Purchase of non-controlling interests  -  -  (1) -  -  -  (1) -  (9) (10) 

Transfers  -  -  1  -  -  (1) -  -  -  -  

Dividends paid to non-controlling             

 interests  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2) (2) 

At 31 December 2012**  362  301  3,136  223  (197) (134) 3,691  334  19  4,044  

 
Other reserves include accumulated reserves where distribution has been restricted due to legal or fiscal requirements and accumulated adjustments in 
respect of piecemeal acquisitions. 
 
*   restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 
** restated for presentation of share purchase in parent company, see note 1. 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

For the year ended 31 December 2013 

 Note 2013  2012**  

  £m  £m  

Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash generated from operations 21 668  589  

Interest received  6  3  
Interest paid  (71) (62) 
Costs associated with refinancing  -  (9) 
Tax paid  (56) (70) 
Dividends received from joint ventures 11 44  41  

    591  492  

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (274) (278) 
Receipt of government capital grants  1  7  
Purchase of intangible assets  (76) (63) 
Proceeds from sale and realisation of fixed assets  4  6  
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration 15 (74) (2) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)  -  (446) 
Proceeds from sale of businesses (net of cash disposed    
 and fees) 4 2  2  
Proceeds from sale of joint venture 4 3  1  
Investments in joint ventures 11 (13) (5) 

  (427) (778) 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Distribution from Pension partnership to UK Pension scheme 22 (10) (30) 
Purchase of non-controlling interests  -  (10) 
Proceeds from borrowing facilities  10  508  
Repayment of other borrowings  (93) (185) 
Finance lease payments  (1) (1) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (3) (2) 

  (97) 280  

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  67  (6) 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  124  145  
Currency variations on cash and cash equivalents  (10) (15) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21 181  124  
 
 
** restated for presentation of share purchase in parent company, see note 1. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 For the year ended 31 December 2013 
  

1 Accounting policies and presentation 

 The Group's significant accounting policies are summarised below. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements (the “statements”) have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed and adopted for use by the European 
Union.  These statements have been prepared under the historical cost method except where other 
measurement bases are required to be applied under IFRS as set out below. 
 
These statements have been prepared using all standards and interpretations required for financial 
periods beginning 1 January 2013.  No standards or interpretations have been adopted before the 
required implementation date.   
 
Standards, revisions and amendments to standards and interpretations 
The Group adopted all applicable amendments to standards with an effective date in 2013 with no 
material impact on its results, assets and liabilities except for the following standards/amendments.  All 
other accounting policies have been applied consistently. 
 
Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”  
The Group adopted IAS 19 (revised) ‘Employee Benefits’ on 1 January 2013 consistent with the 
standard’s effective date.  The Group has applied the standard retrospectively in accordance with the 
transition provisions.  The impact on the Group has been in the following areas:  
 
- The new standard requires post-employment scheme administrative expenses to be recognised either 

in other comprehensive income, where specific to the management of plan assets, or in operating profit 
for all other costs.  This has resulted in a reclassification of administrative expenses from “interest 
charge on net defined benefit plans” within net financing costs to “trading profit” for the full year 2013 of 
£3 million (2012: £4 million).  As a consequence, operating profit for the full year 2013 has reduced by 
£3 million (2012: £4 million) but there is no impact on profit before or after taxation and basic or diluted 
earnings per share.  The Group’s management measures (trading profit, management profit before tax 
and management earnings per share) have been impacted for the full year 2013 by the £3 million 
(2012: £4 million) reclassification, with amounts restated accordingly. 
 

- The new standard replaces the interest cost on post-employment obligations and the expected return 
on post-employment scheme assets with a net interest cost based on the net post-employment 
obligation and the discount rate, measured at the beginning of the year.  There is no change to 
determining the discount rate; this continues to reflect the yield on high-quality corporate bonds.  This 
has increased the “interest charge on net defined benefit plans” in the income statement as the 
discount rate applied to assets is lower than the expected return on assets.  This has no effect on total 
comprehensive income as the increased charge in the income statement is offset by a credit in 
“remeasurement of defined benefit plans” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  
The 2012 income statement has been restated accordingly to reflect the charge of £20 million. 

 
There has been no impact of the change in accounting policy on the consolidated balance sheet or 
consolidated cash flow statement as a result of reflecting the above changes.  The net impact of the 
changes is a charge to “trading profit” for the full year 2013 of £3 million (2012: charge of £4 million).  
2012 has been restated with a charge to “other net financing charges” of £16 million in the income 
statement and a credit to “remeasurement of defined benefit plans” of £20 million in other comprehensive 
income.  The statutory tax charge in the income statement for 2012 has decreased from £85 million 
previously reported, to £80 million with corresponding changes to tax reported in other comprehensive 
income.  Basic, diluted and management earnings per share have been impacted by the changes and 
restated accordingly. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” 
The Group adopted IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” on 1 January 2013 consistent with the standard’s 
effective date and has applied it prospectively in accordance with transition provisions.  The objective of 
the standard is to define the term “fair value” and to establish guidance and disclosure requirements for 
fair value measurement that should be applied across standards.  In the new standard, fair value is 
defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between independent market participants at the measurement date.  For non-financial assets, 
the fair value is determined based on the highest and best use of the asset as determined by a market 
participant.  There has been no measurement impact on the consolidated financial statements of applying 
IFRS 13. 

Amendments to IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” 
The Group adopted the amendments to IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1”), 
consistent with the standard’s effective date.  The changes require that individual components of other 
comprehensive income shall be presented according to whether they will be recycled into the income 
statement at a later date or not.  There has been no measurement impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of applying the amendments to IAS 1. 

2012 acquisition  
Following the acquisition of Volvo Aerospace (renamed Aerospace Engine Systems) on 1 October 2012, 
the Group determined a provisional fair value opening balance sheet which was presented in the annual 
financial statements for 2012.  During the hindsight period further work has been completed on the 
assumptions used to establish provisional fair value amounts.  As a result of this work the opening 
balance sheet has changed as follows: property, plant and equipment is reduced by £4 million, other 
intangible assets is increased by £3 million and goodwill is increased by £1 million. 

As a result of the above changes there has been no material impact on the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income or consolidated cash flow statement for the 
full year 2012. 

The balance sheet at 31 December 2012 has been restated for the changes; reducing property, plant and 
equipment by £4 million to £1,960 million, increasing other intangible assets by £3 million to £992 million 
and increasing goodwill by £1 million to £552 million.  Within the £3 million increase to other intangible 
assets; development costs are reduced by £4 million, the customer related intangible asset arising on 
business combinations is reduced by £32 million and the technology based intangible asset arising on 
business combinations is increased by £39 million. 

In addition and subsequent to the half year, amounts have been reclassified within the brought forward 
provision balances; “contract provisions” have increased by £8 million from £78 million to £86 million, the 
“claims and litigation” provision has decreased by £5 million from £22 million to £17 million and “other 
provisions” have decreased by £3 million from £15 million to £12 million. 

Further, the useful economic life of one contract related intangible asset has been amended from 25 
years to 6 years to better reflect the consumption of value.  The impact on “amortisation of non-operating 
intangible assets on business combinations” for 2013 is £18 million which includes £3 million relating to 
quarter 4 in 2012.  The 2012 income statement has not been restated for this item due to materiality.   

Basis of consolidation 
The statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together "the 
Group") and the Group's share of the results and equity of its joint ventures and associates. 

Subsidiaries are entities over which, either directly or indirectly, the Company has control through the 
power to govern financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefit from their activities.  This power is 
accompanied by a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting rights.  The results of subsidiaries 
acquired or sold during the year are included in the Group's results from the date of acquisition or up to 
the date of disposal.  All business combinations are accounted for by the purchase method.  Assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value. 

Intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated. 

Other non-controlling interests represent the portion of shareholders' earnings and equity attributable to 
third party shareholders. 

The 2012 consolidated balance sheet, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and related notes have been restated for £3 million for purchase of shares in GKN plc. 
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1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 

Joint ventures 
Joint ventures are entities in which the Group has a long term interest and exercises joint control with its 
partners over their financial and operating policies.  In all cases voting rights are 50% or lower.  
Investments in joint ventures are accounted for by the equity method.  The Group's share of equity 
includes goodwill arising on acquisition. 
 
Foreign currencies 
Subsidiaries and joint ventures account in the currency of their primary economic environment of 
operation, determined having regard to the currency which mainly influences sales and input costs.  
Transactions are translated at exchange rates approximating to the rate ruling on the date of the 
transaction except in the case of material transactions when actual spot rate may be used where it more 
accurately reflects the underlying substance of the transaction.  Where practicable, transactions involving 
foreign currencies are protected by forward contracts.  Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Such transactional 
exchange differences are taken into account in determining profit before tax. 
 
Material foreign currency movements arising on the translation of intra-group balances treated as part of 
the net investment in a subsidiary are recognised through equity.  Movements on other intra-group 
balances are recognised through the income statement.  
 
The Group's presentational currency is sterling.  On consolidation, results and cash flows of foreign 
subsidiaries and joint ventures are translated to sterling at average exchange rates except in the case of 
material transactions when the actual spot rate is used where it more accurately reflects the underlying 
substance of the transaction.  Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the 
balance sheet date.  Such translational exchange differences are taken to equity. 
 
Profits and losses on the realisation of foreign currency net investments include the accumulated net 
exchange differences that have arisen on the retranslation of the foreign currency net investments since 1 
January 2004 up to the date of realisation. 
 
Presentation of the income statement 
IFRS is not fully prescriptive as to the format of the income statement.  Line items and subtotals have 
been presented on the face of the income statement in addition to those required under IFRS. 
 
Sales shown in the income statement are those of subsidiaries. 
 
Operating profit is profit before discontinued operations, taxation, finance costs and the share of post-tax 
earnings of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method.  In order to achieve consistency and 
comparability between reporting periods, operating profit is analysed to show separately the results of 
normal trading performance and individually significant charges and credits.  Such items arise because of 
their size or nature and comprise: 
 
 the impact of the annual goodwill impairment review; 
 asset impairment and restructuring charges which arise from events that are significant to any 

reportable segment; 
 amortisation of the fair value of non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations; 
 changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments and material currency translation 

movements arising on intra-group funding; 
 gains or losses on changes in Group structure which do not meet the definition of discontinued 

operations or which the Group views as capital rather than revenue in nature;   
 profits or losses arising from business combinations including fair value adjustments to pre-

combination shareholdings, changes in estimates of contingent consideration made after the 
provisional fair value period and material expenses and charges incurred on a business combination; 
and 

 significant pension scheme curtailments. 
 
The Group’s post-tax share of joint venture earnings is shown as a separate component of profit before 
tax.  The Group’s share of material restructuring and impairment charges, amortisation of the fair value of 
non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations and other net financing charges and 
their related taxation are separately identified, in the related note. 
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Presentation of the income statement (continued) 
Net financing costs are analysed to show separately interest payable, interest receivable and other net 
financing charges.  Other net financing charges include the interest charge on net defined benefit plans 
and unwind of discounts on fair value amounts established on business combinations.  
 
Revenue recognition 
Sales 
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable which 
generally equates to the invoiced amount, excluding sales taxes and net of allowances for returns, early 
settlement discounts and rebates. 
 
Invoices for goods are raised when the risks and rewards of ownership have passed which, dependent 
upon contractual terms, may be at the point of despatch, acceptance by the customer or, in Aerospace, 
certification by the customer.  Sales of services under risk and revenue sharing partnerships are 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion based on services performed to date.  The 
assessment of the stage of completion is dependent on the nature of the contract, but will generally be 
based on: costs incurred to the extent these relate to services performed up to the reporting date; 
achievement of contractual milestones where appropriate; or flying hours or equivalent for long-term 
aftermarket arrangements.   
 
Many businesses in Automotive and Land Systems recognise an element of revenue via a surcharge or 
similar raw material cost recovery mechanism.  The surcharge invoiced or credited is generally based on 
prior period movement in raw material price indices applied to current period deliveries.  Other cost 
recoveries are recorded according to the customer agreement.  In those instances where recovery of 
such increases is guaranteed, irrespective of the level of future deliveries, revenue is recognised, or due 
allowance made, in the same period as the cost movement takes place. 
 
Other income 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.   
 
Sales and other income is recognised in the income statement when it can be reliably measured and its 
collectability is reasonably assured. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. 
 
Cost 
Cost comprises the purchase price plus costs directly incurred in bringing the asset into use and 
borrowing costs on qualifying assets.  Where freehold and long leasehold properties were carried at 
valuation on 23 March 2000, these values have been retained as book values and therefore deemed 
cost at the date of the IFRS transition.   
 

 

Where assets are in the course of construction at the balance sheet date they are classified as capital 
work in progress.  Transfers are made to other asset categories when they are available for use. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is not provided on freehold land or capital work in progress.  In the case of all other 
categories of property, plant and equipment, depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over the 
course of the financial year from the date the asset is available for use. 
 
Depreciation is applied to specific classes of asset so as to reduce them to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, which are reviewed annually. 

   

 The range of depreciation lives are:  
  Years 

 Freehold buildings Up to 50 
 Steel powder production plant  18 
 General plant, machinery, fixtures and fittings 6 to 15 
 Computers 3 to 5 
 Commercial vehicles and cars 4 to 5 
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Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
Depreciation (continued) 
Property, plant and equipment is reviewed at least annually for indications of impairment.  Impairments 
are charged to the income statement.  Similarly, where property, plant and equipment has been impaired 
and subsequent reviews demonstrate the recoverable value is in excess of the impaired value an 
impairment reversal is recorded.  The amount of the reversal cannot exceed the theoretical net book 
amount at the date of the reversal had the item not been impaired.  Impairment reversals are credited to 
the income statement against the same line item to which the impairment was previously charged.  
 
Leased assets 
Operating lease rentals are charged to the income statement as incurred over the lease term.  Finance 
lease assets are not significant.   
 
Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs are capitalised as cost on qualifying tangible and intangible fixed asset expenditure.  A 
qualifying asset is an asset or programme where the period of capitalisation is more than 12 months and 
the capital value is more than £25 million.  For general borrowings the capitalisation rate is the weighted 
average of the borrowing costs outstanding during the year.  For specific funding and borrowings the 
amount capitalised is the actual borrowing cost incurred less any investment income on the temporary 
investment of those borrowings.   
 
Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recorded in arrangements where payments, or similar transfers of financial 
resources, are unavoidable or guaranteed.   
 
Borrowings are measured initially at fair value which usually equates to proceeds received and includes 
transaction costs.  Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and overdrafts together with 
highly liquid investments of less than 90 days maturity.  Other financial assets comprise investments with 
more than 90 days until maturity.  Unless an enforceable right of set-off exists and there is an intention to 
net settle, the components of cash and cash equivalents are reflected on a gross basis in the balance 
sheet. 
 
Other financial assets and liabilities, including short term receivables and payables, are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any impairment provision 
unless the impact of the time value of money is considered to be material. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
The Group does not trade in derivative financial instruments.  Derivative financial instruments including 
forward foreign currency contracts are used by the Group to manage its exposure to risk associated with 
the variability in cash flows in relation to both recognised assets or liabilities or forecast transactions.  All 
derivative financial instruments are measured at the balance sheet date at their fair value. 
 
Where derivative financial instruments are not designated as or not determined to be effective hedges, 
any gain or loss on remeasurement is taken to the income statement.  Where derivative financial 
instruments are designated as and are effective as cash flow hedges, any gain or loss on 
remeasurement is held in equity and recycled through the income statement when the designated item is 
transacted, unless related to the purchase of a business, when recycled against consideration. 
 
Gains or losses on derivative financial instruments no longer designated as effective hedges are taken 
directly to the income statement. 
 
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are recognised at their fair value when the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the derivative are not closely related to the host contract.  Gains and losses 
arising on the remeasurement of these embedded derivatives at each balance sheet date are taken to 
the income statement. 
 
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at the amount 
of the obligation under the contract. 
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Goodwill 
Goodwill consists of the excess of the fair value of the consideration over the fair value of the identifiable 
intangible and tangible assets net of the fair value of the liabilities including contingencies of businesses 
acquired at the date of acquisition.  Acquisition related expenses are charged to the income statement as 
incurred. 
 
Goodwill in respect of business combinations of subsidiaries is recognised as an intangible asset.  
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a joint venture is included in the carrying value of the investment. 
 
Goodwill is not amortised but tested at least annually for impairment.  Goodwill is carried at cost less any 
recognised impairment losses that arise from the annual assessment of its carrying value.  To the extent 
that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount, determined as the higher of estimated discounted 
future net cash flows or recoverable amount on a fair value less cost to sell basis, goodwill is written down 
to the recoverable amount and an impairment charge is recognised in the income statement. 
 
Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment charges. 
 
Computer software 
Where computer software is not integral to an item of property, plant or equipment its costs are capitalised 
and categorised as intangible assets.  Cost comprises the purchase price plus costs directly incurred in 
bringing the asset into use.  Amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over its useful economic life 
which is in the range of 3-5 years. 
 
Development costs and participation fees 
Where development expenditure results in a new or substantially improved product or process and it is 
probable that this expenditure will be recovered, it is capitalised.  Cost comprises development 
expenditure and borrowing costs on qualifying assets or fair value on initial recognition when as a result of 
a business combination.  In addition, payments made to engine manufacturers for participation fees 
relating to risk and revenue sharing partnerships, are carried forward in intangible assets to the extent that 
they can be recovered from future sales. 
 
Amortisation is charged from the date the asset is available for use.  In Aerospace, amortisation is charged 
over the asset’s life up to a maximum of 15 years for all programmes other than risk and revenue sharing 
partnerships where a maximum life of 25 years is assumed, either on a straight line basis or, where 
sufficient contractual terms exist, a unit of production method is applied.  In Automotive, amortisation is 
charged on a straight line basis over the asset’s life up to a maximum of 7 years. 
 
Capitalised development costs, including participation fees, are subject to annual impairment reviews with 
any resulting impairments charged to the income statement. 
 
Research expenditure and development expenditure not qualifying for capitalisation is written off as 
incurred. 
 

 Assets acquired on business combinations – non-operating intangible assets 
Non-operating intangible assets are intangible assets that are acquired as a result of a business 
combination, which arise from contractual or other legal rights and are not transferable or separable.  On 
initial recognition they are measured at fair value.  Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis to the 
income statement over their expected useful lives which are: 

  
   Years 

 Marketing related assets -  brands and trademarks 20-50 
  -  agreements not to compete Life of 

agreement 
 Customer related assets -  order backlog Length of 

backlog 
  -  other customer contracts and relationships 2-25 
 Technology based assets 5-25 
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 Inventories  
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value with due allowance being 
made for obsolete or slow-moving items.  Cost is determined on a first in, first out or weighted average 
cost basis.  Cost includes raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and the relevant proportion of 
works overheads assuming normal levels of activity.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less 
estimated selling costs and costs to complete.   
 

 Taxation 
Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement unless they relate to items 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income when the related tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Full provision is made for deferred tax on all temporary differences resulting from the difference between 
the carrying value of an asset or liability in the consolidated financial statements and its tax base.  The 
amount of deferred tax reflects the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
the assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 

 Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are only recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that they will be recovered against future taxable profits. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted profits of joint ventures.  No deferred tax is recognised on the 
unremitted profits of overseas branches and subsidiaries except to the extent that it is probable that such 
earnings will be remitted to the parent in the foreseeable future. 
 
Pensions and post-employment benefits 
The Group’s pension arrangements comprise various defined benefit and defined contribution schemes 
throughout the world.  In the UK and in certain overseas companies pension arrangements are made 
through externally funded defined benefit schemes, the contributions to which are based on the advice of 
independent actuaries or in accordance with the rules of the schemes.  In other overseas companies funds 
are retained within the business to provide for retirement obligations. 
 
The Group also operates a number of defined contribution and defined benefit arrangements which 
provide certain employees with defined post-employment healthcare benefits. 
 
The Group accounts for all post-employment defined benefit schemes through full recognition of the 
schemes’ surpluses or deficits on the balance sheet at the end of each year.  Remeasurement of defined 
benefit plans is included in other comprehensive income.  Current and past service costs, curtailments and 
settlements are recognised within operating profit.  Interest charges on net defined benefit plans are 
recognised in other net financing charges. 
 
For defined contribution arrangements the cost charged to the income statement represents the Group’s 
contributions to the relevant schemes in the year in which they fall due. 
 

 Government refundable advances 
Government refundable advances are reported in Trade and other payables in the balance sheet.  
Refundable advances include amounts advanced by Government, accrued interest and directly 
attributable costs.  Refundable advances are provided to the Group to part-finance expenditures on 
specific development programmes.  The advances are provided on a risk sharing basis, i.e. repayment 
levels are determined subject to the success of the related programme.  Interest is calculated using the 
effective interest rate method.   
 
Share-based payments 
Share options granted to employees and share-based arrangements put in place since 7 November 2002 
are valued at the date of grant or award using an appropriate option pricing model and are charged to 
operating profit over the performance or vesting period of the scheme.  The annual charge is modified to 
take account of shares forfeited by employees who leave during the performance or vesting period and, in 
the case of non-market related performance conditions, where it becomes unlikely the option will vest. 
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 Provisions 
Provisions for onerous or loss making contracts, warranty exposures, environmental matters, restructuring, 
employee obligations and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated.  Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination 
penalties and employee termination payments.  Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation.  Any increase in provisions due to discounting, only 
recorded where material, is recognised as interest expense within other net financing charges. 
 
Standards, revisions and amendments to standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted 
 
The Group does not intend to adopt any standard, revision or amendment before the required 
implementation date.  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards 
which have not been applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some 
cases had not yet been adopted by the EU): 
 
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; 
 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; 
 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements; and 
 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. 

 

The impact of IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ and IFRS 12 
‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ has been assessed for adoption on 1 January 2014 and it is 
considered there will be no material impact on the Group’s results, assets or liabilities.  All other revisions 
and amendments to standards and interpretations which have an implementation date for 2015 or after are 
still being assessed. 
 

 Significant judgements, key assumptions and estimates 
The Group's significant accounting policies are set out above.  The preparation of financial statements, in 
conformity with IFRS, requires the use of estimates, subjective judgement and assumptions that may 
affect the amounts of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and reported profit and earnings for 
the year.  The Directors base these estimates, judgements and assumptions on a combination of past 
experience, professional expert advice and other evidence that is relevant to the particular circumstance. 
 
The accounting policies where the Directors consider the more complex estimates, judgements and 
assumptions have to be made are those in respect of acquired assets and liabilities - business 
combinations (changes to 2012 acquisition – note 1), post-employment obligations (note 22), derivative 
and other financial instruments (notes 4b and 18), taxation (note 6), provisions (note 19) and impairment of 
non-current assets (note 9).  Details of the principal estimates, judgements and assumptions made are set 
out in the related notes as identified. 

 
  



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number: 66549 

Page 22 of 65 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

2 Segmental analysis 

 

The Group's reportable segments have been determined based on reports reviewed by the Executive Committee 
led by the Chief Executive.  The operating activities of the Group are largely structured according to the markets 
served; automotive, aerospace and the land systems markets.  Automotive is managed according to product groups; 
driveline and powder metallurgy.  Reportable segments derive their sales from the manufacture of products and sale 
of service.  Revenue from inter segment trading and royalties is not significant.   

(a) Sales 

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2013      

 Subsidiaries 2,243  3,062  932  870   

 Joint ventures -  354  -  29   

  2,243  3,416  932  899  7,490  

  

 Other businesses     104  

 Management sales      7,594  

 Less:  Joint venture sales     (458) 

 Income statement – sales     7,136  

       

 2012      

 Subsidiaries 1,584  2,945  874  889   
 Joint ventures -  291  -  44   

  1,584  3,236  874  933  6,627  

 Acquisitions      
 Subsidiaries 191  -  -  -  191  
  

 Other businesses     86  

 Management sales      6,904  
 Less:  Joint venture sales     (394) 

 Income statement – sales     6,510  
       

       

(b) Trading profit 

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems   Total  

    £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 2013      

 Trading profit before depreciation, impairment and       

  amortisation 355  309  129  92   

 Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and       

  equipment (60) (122) (35) (18)  

 Amortisation of operating intangible assets (26) (5) -  (1)  

 Trading profit – subsidiaries 269  182  94  73   

 Trading profit/(loss) – joint ventures (3) 64  - 2   

  266  246  94  75  681  

       

 Other businesses     5  

 Corporate and unallocated costs     (25) 

 Management trading profit      661  

 Less: Joint venture trading profit     (64) 

 Income statement – trading profit     597  
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(b) Trading profit (continued) 

  

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems   Total  

    £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 2012*      

 Trading profit before depreciation, impairment and       

  amortisation 232  310  119  101   
 Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and       
  equipment (41) (124) (32) (17)  
 Amortisation of operating intangible assets (11) (4) -  (1)  

 Trading profit – subsidiaries 180  182  87  83   
 Trading profit/(loss) – joint ventures (3) 53  -  5   

  177  235  87  88  587  

 Acquisitions      

 Trading profit – subsidiaries 15  -  -  -  15  
 Acquisition related charges (3) -  -  -  (3) 
 Restructuring charge (19) -  -  -  (19) 

      (7) 
 Other businesses     (4) 
 Corporate and unallocated costs     (23) 

 Management trading profit      553  
 Less: Joint venture trading profit     (49) 

 Income statement – trading profit     504  

       

 

*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 

 

No income statement items between trading profit and profit before tax are allocated to management trading profit, 
which is the Group’s segmental measure of profit or loss. 
 
During the year the Group has charged £25 million of restructuring costs in trading profit relating to:  Driveline 
(£16 million), Powder Metallurgy (£5 million), Land Systems (£3 million) and other businesses (£1 million).  In the full 
year 2012 a £19 million restructuring charge was recorded in Aerospace Engine Systems. 
 
In relation to the £19 million restructuring charge recorded in 2012 for Aerospace Engine Systems, £4 million has 
been released in 2013. 
 
The Group sold rights to certain of its intellectual property (which have not previously met the intangible asset 
recognition criteria under IAS 38) realising a profit on sale of £5 million.  This has been recorded in the trading profit 
of Aerospace.  There are potentially future payments due under the terms of the agreement, dependent on specific 
milestones being achieved. 
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(c) Goodwill, fixed assets and working capital – subsidiaries only 

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2013      

 Property, plant and equipment and operating       

  intangible assets 934  932  335  142  2,343  

 Working capital 113  76  90  85  364  

 Net operating assets 1,047  1,008  425  227   

 Goodwill and non-operating intangible assets 566  280  26  181   

 Net investment 1,613  1,288  451  408   

 2012*      

 Property, plant and equipment and operating       

  intangible assets 933  950  319  137  2,339  
 Working capital 82  93  95  74  344  

 Net operating assets 1,015  1,043  414  211   
 Goodwill and non-operating intangible assets 631  298  27  185   

 Net investment 1,646  1,341  441  396   

 

 
*  restated for the impact of changes to the acquisition balance sheet related to the purchase of Volvo Aerospace on 1 October 2012, 
see note 1. 

 
(d) Fixed asset additions, investments in joint ventures and other non-cash items 

  

   Automotive    

    Powder  Land    

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems  Other  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2013       

 Fixed asset additions and capitalised        

  borrowing costs       

 - property, plant and equipment 58  152  56  23  2  291  

 - intangible assets 44  10  3  1  -  58  

 Investments in associate and       

  joint ventures -  152  -  8  23  183  

 Other non-cash items – share-based       

  payments 3  4  2  2  3  14  

 2012       
 Fixed asset additions and capitalised        
  borrowing costs       
 - property, plant and equipment 52  142  47  21  3  265  
 - intangible assets 53  9  4  1  -  67  
 Investments in associate and       
  joint ventures -  125  -  10  22  157  
 Other non-cash items – share-based       
  payments 1  2  1  -  2  6  

  
(e) Country analysis 

  United    Other  Total   

  Kingdom  USA  Germany  countries  non-UK  Total 

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2013       

 Management sales by origin 972  2,265  1,019  3,338  6,622  7,594  

 Goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant        

  and equipment and investments in associate       

    and joint ventures 458  914  487  1,745  3,146  3,604  

 2012       

 Management sales by origin 1,009  2,104  979  2,812  5,895  6,904  
 Goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant        
  and equipment and investments in associate       
    and joint ventures 443  932  484  1,802  3,218  3,661  
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(f) Other sales information 

  
Subsidiary segmental sales gross of inter segment sales are; Aerospace £2,243 million (2012: £1,775 million), 
Driveline £3,124 million (2012: £2,999 million), Powder Metallurgy £934 million (2012: £875 million), and Land 
Systems £872 million (2012: £890 million).  Inter segment transactions take place on an arm’s length basis using 
normal terms of business. 
 
In 2013 and 2012, no customer accounted for 10% or more of subsidiary sales or management sales.   
 
Management sales by product are: Aerospace - aerostructures 45% (2012: 56%), engine components and sub-
systems 50% (2012: 37%) and special products 5% (2012: 7%).  Driveline – CVJ systems 63% (2012: 61%), all-wheel 
drive systems 28% (2012: 30%), transaxle solutions 7% (2012: 6%) and other goods 2% (2012: 3%).  Powder 
Metallurgy - sintered components 84% (2012: 83%) and metal powders 16% (2012: 17%).  Land Systems – power 
management devices 42% (2012: 41%), wheels and structures 33% (2012: 36%) and aftermarket 25% (2012: 23%). 
 

(g) Reconciliation of segmental property, plant and equipment and operating intangible fixed assets to the 
balance sheet 

  
  2013  2012* 
  £m  £m  

 Segmental analysis – property, plant and equipment and operating intangible assets 2,343  2,339  
 Segmental analysis – goodwill and non-operating intangible assets 1,053  1,141  
 Goodwill (544) (552) 
 Other businesses 17  19  
 Corporate assets 8  5  

 Balance sheet – property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 2,877  2,952  

 

 
*  restated for the impact of changes to the acquisition balance sheet related to the purchase of Volvo Aerospace on 1 October 2012, 
see note 1. 

 
(h) Reconciliation of segmental working capital to the balance sheet 

  
  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Segmental analysis – working capital 364  344  
 Other businesses 11  10  
 Corporate items (34) (39) 
 Accrued interest (15) (17) 
 Restructuring provisions (4) (6) 
 Deferred and contingent consideration (12) (85) 
 Government refundable advances (93) (88) 

 Balance sheet – inventories, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and   
  provisions 217  119  
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 

3 Adjusted performance measures 

  

(a) Reconciliation of reported and management performance measures 

  
  2013 

  

As  
reported  

Joint  
ventures  

Exceptional  
and non-  

trading items 
Management  

basis  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Sales 7,136  458  -  7,594  

      

 Trading profit 597  64  -  661  

 Change in value of derivative and other financial     
  instruments 26  -  (26) -  
 Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets     
  arising on business combinations (75) -  75  -  

 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure 12  -  (12) -  

 Operating profit 560  64  37  661  

      

 Share of post-tax earnings of joint ventures 52  (64) 2  (10) 

      

 Interest payable (76) -  -  (76) 

 Interest receivable 3  -  -  3  

 Other net financing charges (55) -  55  -  

 Net financing costs (128) -  55  (73) 

 Profit before taxation 484  -  94  578  

      

 Taxation (81) -  (28) (109) 

 Profit after tax for the year 403  -  66  469  

 Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (12) -  8  (4) 

 Profit attributable to owners of the parent 391  -  74  465  

      
  2012* 

  
As  

reported  
Joint  

ventures  

Exceptional  
and non-  

trading items 
Management  

basis  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Sales 6,510  394  -  6,904  

      

 Trading profit 504  49  -  553  

 Change in value of derivative and other financial     
  instruments 126  -  (126) -  
 Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets     
  arising on business combinations (37) -  37  -  

 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure 5  -  (5) -  
 Reversal of inventory fair value adjustment      
  arising on business combinations (37) -  37  -  
 Pension scheme curtailments 63  -  (63) -  

 Operating profit 624  49  (120) 553  
      
 Share of post-tax earnings of joint ventures 38  (49) 3  (8) 
      

 Interest payable (60) -  -  (60) 
 Interest receivable 8  -  -  8  
 Other net financing charges (42) -  42  -  

 Net financing costs (94) -  42  (52) 

 Profit before taxation 568  -  (75) 493  
      
 Taxation (87) -  7  (80) 

 Profit after tax for the year 481  -  (68) 413  
 Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (23) -  20  (3) 

 Profit attributable to owners of the parent 458  -  (48) 410  

      

 

*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 
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3 Adjusted performance measures (continued) 

  
(b) Summary of management performance measures by segment 

  2013 2012* 

  Sales  
Trading  

profit  Margin  Sales  
Trading  

profit  Margin  
  £m  £m   £m  £m   

 Aerospace 2,243  266  11.9%  1,584  177  11.2%  
 Driveline 3,416  246  7.2%  3,236  235  7.3%  
 Powder Metallurgy 932  94  10.1%  874  87  10.0%  
 Land Systems 899  75  8.3%  933  88  9.4%  
 Other businesses  104  5   86  (4)  
 Corporate and unallocated costs -  (25)  -  (23)  
 Prior year acquisitions -  -   191  (7)  

  7,594  661  8.7% 6,904  553  8.0%  

 

 
*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 
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4  Operating profit   
 The analysis of the additional components of operating profit is shown below:   
    
(a) Trading profit   
  2013  2012* 
  £m  £m  

 Sales by subsidiaries 7,136  6,510  
    
 Operating costs    
 Change in stocks of finished goods and work in progress 46  (86) 
 Raw materials and consumables (3,233) (3,094) 
 Staff costs (note 7) (1,847) (1,603) 
 Reorganisation costs (ii):   
  Redundancy and other employee related amounts (24) (6) 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (iii) (235) (214) 
 Impairment of property, plant and equipment (2) (4) 
 Amortisation of operating intangible assets (32) (17) 
 Operating lease rentals payable:   
  Plant and equipment (16) (15) 
  Property (30) (28) 
 Impairment of trade receivables (3) (3) 
 Amortisation of government capital grants 3  3  
 Net exchange differences on foreign currency transactions (11) -  
 Acquisition related charges -  (3) 
 Acquisition restructuring charges 4  (19) 
 Other costs (1,159) (917) 

  (6,539) (6,006) 

 Trading profit 597  504  

  
*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 

 
 (i) EBITDA is subsidiary trading profit before depreciation, impairment and amortisation charges included in 

trading profit.  EBITDA in 2013 was £866 million (2012: £739 million). 
   

 (ii) Reorganisation costs in 2013 reflect actions in the ordinary course of business to reduce costs, improve 
productivity and rationalise facilities in continuing operations.  This cost is included in trading profit. 

   

 (iii) Including depreciation charged on assets held under finance leases of £1 million (2012: less than £1 million). 

   

 (iv) Research and development expenditure in subsidiaries was £149 million (2012: £124 million), net of customer 
and government funding. 

   

 (v) Auditors’ remuneration 

The analysis of auditors' remuneration is as follows: 
   

  2013  2012  
   £m  £m  

  Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the audit of the company  -  -  
  Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and their associates for other   
   services to the Group:   
  - Audit of the financial statements of subsidiaries (4.1) (4.3) 

  Total audit fees (4.1) (4.3) 

  - Audit related assurance services (0.1) (0.1) 
  - Tax advisory services (0.2) (0.2) 
  - Tax compliance services (0.6) (0.6) 
  - Corporate finance transaction services -  (0.7) 
  - Other services (0.2) -  

  Total fees for other services (1.1) (1.6) 

  Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and their associates in respect of    
   associated pension schemes:   
  - Audit (0.1) -  
  - Other services -  -  

   (0.1) -  

  Total fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and their associates (5.3) (5.9) 

     
  All fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company's auditors, include amounts in respect of 

expenses.  All fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have been charged to the income statement. 
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4 Operating profit (continued) 

  

(b) Change in value of derivative and other financial instruments 

  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Forward currency contracts (not hedge accounted) 19  117  
 Embedded derivatives (4) (1) 
 Commodity contracts (not hedge accounted) -  1  

  15  117  
 Net gains and losses on intra-group funding   
  Arising in year 11  9  
  Reclassified in year -  -  

  11  9  

  26  126  
  

 

IAS 39 requires derivative financial instruments to be valued at the balance sheet date and any difference between 
that value and the intrinsic value of the instrument to be reflected in the balance sheet as an asset or liability.  Any 
subsequent change in value is reflected in the income statement unless hedge accounting is achieved.  Such 
movements do not affect cash flow or the economic substance of the underlying transaction.  In 2013 and 2012 the 
Group used transactional hedge accounting in a limited number of instances.   

  

(c) Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations  

  
  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Marketing related -  (1) 
 Customer related (56) (25) 
 Technology based (19) (11) 

  (75) (37) 
  

(d) Gains and losses on changes in Group structure 

  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Business sold  9  1  
 Profit on sale of joint venture 3  -  
 Gain on contingent consideration -  4  

  12  5  
  

 

On 7 November 2013, the Group sold its controlling interest in GKN Driveline Torque Technology (Shanghai) Co. 
Ltd (TSH) to Shanghai GKN HUAYA Driveline Systems Co Limited (SDS) , a joint venture company.  The 
transaction took the Group’s ownership in TSH from 100% to 50%.  The profit on sale of £9 million, comprised the 
fair value of consideration received (increased equity interest in SDS of £15 million) less the previous carrying value 
of TSH of £6 million.  TSH had a net overdraft of £2 million on the date of disposal. 
 
On 24 December 2013, the Group sold its 49% share in a joint venture company, Composite Technology and 
Applications Ltd for cash consideration of £3 million.  The carrying value on the date of disposal was nil, resulting in 
a profit on sale of £3 million. 
 
On 20 November 2012, the Group sold GKN Geplasmetal S.A. for cash consideration of £3 million.  The profit on 
sale of £1 million comprised a £1 million loss on disposal of net assets and a £2 million gain on reclassification of 
previous currency variations from other reserves. 
 
On 27 January 2012, the Group sold its 49% share in a joint venture company, GKN JTEKT (Thailand) Limited for 
cash consideration of £1 million, realising neither a profit or a loss. 
 
During 2012, £2 million of contingent consideration relating to the purchase of Getrag Driveline Products in 2011 
was paid in cash.  The balance of the liability for contingent consideration recorded at 31 December 2011, 
£4 million, was released to the income statement outside trading profit. 
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5 Net financing costs 

  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

(a) Interest payable and fee expense   
  Short term bank and other borrowings  (6) (10) 
  Repayable within five years (11) (15) 
  Repayable after five years (52) (34) 
  Government refundable advances (6) (5) 
  Borrowing costs capitalised -  5  
  Finance leases (1) (1) 

  (76) (60) 

 Interest receivable   
  Short term investments, loans and deposits 3  8  

 Net interest payable and receivable (73) (52) 
  

 

The capitalisation rate on specific funding in 2012 was 7.5% and on general borrowings in 2012 was 4.9%. 
 

  2013  2012* 
  £m  £m  

(b) Other net financing charges   
  Interest charge on net defined benefit plans (45) (36) 
  Unwind of discounts (10) (6) 

  (55) (42) 

    
 *  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1.   
    
6 Taxation   
(a) Tax expense   
    
  2013  2012* 
 Analysis of charge in year £m  £m  

 Current tax (charge)/credit    
  Current year charge (93) (86) 
  Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses and other assets 4  8  
  Net movement on provisions for uncertain tax positions 8  (30) 
  Adjustments in respect of prior years 8  (4) 

  (73) (112) 

 Deferred tax (charge)/credit    
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (65) (76) 
  Tax on change in value of derivative financial instruments 1  (19) 
  Other changes in unrecognised deferred tax assets 52  136  
  Adjustments in respect of prior years 4  (16) 

  (8) 25  

 Total tax charge for the year (81) (87) 

  

 Analysed as: 
  

  2013  2012* 
 Tax in respect of management profit £m  £m  

  Current tax  (69) (116) 
  Deferred tax  (40) 36  

   (109) (80) 

    
 Tax in respect of items excluded from management profit   

  Current tax  (3) 4  
  Deferred tax 31  (11) 

   28  (7) 

 Total for tax charge for the year (81) (87) 

 

 
*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 
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6 Taxation (continued)   
(a) Tax expense (continued) 

  

 

Significant judgements and estimates 

 
The Group operates in many jurisdictions and is subject to tax audits which are often complex and can take several 
years to conclude.  Therefore, the accrual for current tax includes provisions for uncertain tax positions which 
require estimates for each matter and the exercise of judgement in respect of the interpretation of tax laws and the 
likelihood of challenge to historic tax positions.  Where appropriate, estimates of interest and penalties are included 
in these provisions.  As amounts provided for in any year could differ from eventual tax liabilities, subsequent 
adjustments which have a material impact on the Group's tax rate and/or cash tax payments may arise.  Tax 
payments comprise payments on account and payments on the final resolution of open items and, as a result, there 
can be substantial differences between the charge in the income statement and cash tax payments.  Where 
companies utilise brought forward tax losses such that little or no tax is paid, this also results in differences between 
the tax charge and cash tax payments.  With regard to deferred tax, judgement is required for the recognition of 
deferred tax assets, which is based on expectations of future financial performance in particular legal entities or tax 
groups. 

  

  2013 2012* 
 Tax reconciliation £m  %  £m  %  

 Profit before tax 484   568   
 Less share of post-tax earnings of joint ventures (52)  (38)  

 Profit before tax excluding joint ventures 432   530   
      

 
Tax charge calculated at 23.25% (2012: 24.5%) standard UK corporate tax 
rate (100) (23) (130) (25) 

 Differences between UK and overseas corporate tax rates (39) (9) (37) (7) 
 Non-deductible and non-taxable items (2)  1  (4) (1) 
 Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses 52  12  132  25  
 Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses and other assets 4  1  8  2  
 Changes in tax rates (11) (3) -  -  
 Other changes in deferred tax assets (5) (1) (6) (1) 

 Tax charge on ordinary activities (101) (22) (37) (5) 
 Net movement on provision for uncertain tax positions 8  2  (30) (6) 
 Adjustments in respect of prior years 12  2  (20) (4) 

 Total tax charge for the year (81) (18) (87) (15) 

 

 
*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 

 

(b) Tax included in other comprehensive income 

  2013  2012* 
  £m  £m  

 Deferred tax on post-employment obligations (49) 74  
 Deferred tax on foreign currency gains and losses on intra-group funding 1  1  
 Current tax on post-employment obligations 21  22  
 Current tax on foreign currency gains and losses on intra-group funding -  6  

  (27) 103  

 

 
*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 

 

    
(c) Current tax   
  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Assets 11 24  
 Liabilities (135) (157) 

  (124) (133) 

  

(d) Recognised deferred tax  

  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Assets  225  302  
 Liabilities  (178) (204) 

  47  98  
  

 

There is a net £8 million deferred tax charge to the income statement in the year (2012: £25 million credit) and a 
further deferred tax charge of £48 million has been recorded directly in other comprehensive income (2012: £75 
million credit).  These charges are impacted by the use of deferred tax assets.  The credit in 2012 primarily related 
to the recognition of previously unrecognised future tax deductions in the US and UK. 
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6 Taxation (continued)   
(d) Recognised deferred tax (continued) 

 

 
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction 
as permitted by IAS 12) during the year are shown below: 

      
  Assets  Liabilities  

  Post-        
  employment  Tax    Fixed     
  obligations  losses  Other   assets  Other  Total  
  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 2013 224  148  55   (313) (16) 98  

 Included in the income statement (7) (19) 8   20  (10) (8) 

 Included in other comprehensive income  (49) -  -   -  1  (48) 

 Currency variations  1  (2) -   6  -  5  

 At 31 December 2013 169  127  63   (287) (25) 47  

 At 1 January 2012 142  147  51   (206) (6) 128  
 Included in the income statement* (9) 9  (6)  41  (10) 25  
 Included in other comprehensive income* 74  -  -   -  1  75  
 Businesses acquired 21  -  14   (162) -  (127) 
 Currency variations  (4) (8) (4)  14  (1) (3) 

 At 31 December 2012 224  148  55   (313) (16) 98  

  
 *  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 

  

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised where management projections indicate the future availability of taxable profits 
to absorb the deductions. 

‘Other’ deferred tax arises mainly in relation to items that are taxable or tax deductible in a different period than the 
income or expense is accrued in the accounts. 

  

(e) Unrecognised deferred tax assets  

  

 
Certain deferred tax assets have not been recognised on the basis that the Group’s ability to utilise them is 
uncertain as shown below.   

     
  2013  2012 

  Tax value  Gross  Expiry   Tax value  Gross  Expiry  
   £m   £m  period    £m   £m   period  

 Tax losses - with expiry: national  76  222  2014-2032  115  329  2013-2031 
 Tax losses - with expiry: local  16  397  2014-2032  18  442  2013-2031 
 Tax losses - without expiry  41  194    60  244   

 Total tax losses 133  813    193  1,015   

 Post-employment obligations -  -    1  4   
 Other temporary differences  1  3    5  19   

 Total other temporary differences 1  3    6  23   

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets  134  816    199  1,038   
  

 
No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries except where the distribution of 
such profits is planned.  If these earnings were remitted in full, tax of £14 million (2012: £12 million) would be 
payable. 

  

(f) Changes in UK tax rate 

 

A reduction in the mainstream rate of UK corporation tax to 23% took effect from April 2013 which gives rise to an 
effective rate of 23.25% for the year.  Further reductions from 23% to 21% with effect from 1 April 2014 and from 
21% to 20% from 1 April 2015 have also been substantively enacted.  UK temporary differences are measured at 
the rate at which they are expected to reverse. 
 

(g) Franked investment income - litigation 

 

Since 2003, the Group has been involved in litigation with HMRC in respect of various advance corporate tax 
payments made and corporate tax paid on certain foreign dividends which, in its view, were levied by HMRC in 
breach of the Group’s EU community law rights.  A High Court judgment regarding payments on account was 
handed down in January 2013 confirming HMRC should repay payments on account to GKN.  The European Court 
of Justice published its decision on 13 November 2012 and the case will return to the UK High Court in April 2014. 
 
The continuing complexity of the case and uncertainty over the issues raised means that it is not possible to predict 
the final outcome of the litigation with any reasonable degree of certainty and, as a result, no contingent asset has 
been recognised. 
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7 Employees including Directors 
  
  2013  2012  
 Employee benefit expense  £m  £m  

    
 Wages and salaries (1,452) (1,309) 
 Social security costs (296) (225) 
 Post-employment costs (85) (63) 
 Share-based payments (14) (6) 

  (1,847) (1,603) 

  
    
  2013  2012  
 Average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) Number  Number  

    
 By business    
 Aerospace 11,399  9,218  
 Driveline 18,727  17,991  
 Powder Metallurgy 6,528  6,483  
 Land Systems 5,241  5,498  
 Other businesses 902  941  
 Corporate 201  204  

 Total 42,998  40,335  

    
 Key management 
  
 The key management of the Group comprises GKN plc Board Directors and members of the Group's 

Executive Committee during the year and their aggregate compensation is shown below.   
    
  2013  2012  
 Key management compensation £m  £m  

    
 Salaries and short term employee benefits 5.0  4.3  
 Post-employment benefits 0.3  0.3  
 Share-based and medium term incentives and benefits 3.6  2.8  

  8.9  7.4  

  
 The amount outstanding at 31 December 2013 in respect of annual short term variable remuneration 

payable in cash was £1.8 million (2012: £1.2 million).  Key management participate in certain incentive 
arrangements where the key performance metric is management earnings per share using the cash tax 
rate.  Management eps using the cash tax rate is 31.9p (2012: 27.5p). A total of £227,000 in dividends 
was received by key management in 2013 (2012: £108,247). 
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8 Share-based payments  
  

 The Group has granted options over shares to employees for a number of years under different schemes.  
Where grants were made after 7 November 2002 they have been accounted for as required by IFRS 2 
"Share-based payment".  Awards made before that date have not been so accounted.  Details of awards 
made since 7 November 2002 that impact the 2013 accounting charge are:  

  
 Sustainable Earnings Plan (SEP) 

  

 Awards comprising a Core Award and a Sustainability Award were made to Directors and certain senior 
employees in August 2012 and March 2013.  A Core Award is subject to EPS growth targets over an 
initial three year performance period and a Sustainability Award is subject to the highest level of EPS 
achieved over the initial three year period being sustained for a further two year period.  Sustained EPS 
growth is measured independently in years four and five.  50% of the Core Award will be released at the 
end of the initial three year period; the balance of the Core Award and any Sustainability Award will be 
released at the end of year five.  There is no provision for retesting performance for either the Core Award 
or Sustainability Award.  On release, dividends are treated as having accrued on the shares from the date 
of grant to the date of release with the value delivered in either shares or cash. 
 
Details of SEP awards (Core Award and Sustainability Awards) granted during the year are set out below: 
 

  Shares granted during  
year  

Weighted average fair value at  
measurement date  

 2013 SEP awards 8,341,002  264.5p  
  

 The fair value of shares awarded under the SEP is calculated as the share price on the grant date. 
 

 A reconciliation of ESOS option movements over the year to 31 December 2013 is shown below:  
 

  2013 2012 

   Weighted   Weighted   
   average   average  
  Number  exercise price  Number  exercise price  
  000s  pence   000s  pence  

       
 Outstanding at 1 January  11,379  132.37  21,210  127.17  
      
 Granted  -  -  -  -  
 Forfeited  (176) 153.58  (1,085) 175.41  
 Exercised  (6,343) 123.06  (8,746) 114.42  

 Outstanding at 31 December  4,860  143.76  11,379  132.37  

 Exercisable at 31 December  3,335  119.89  5,126  110.51  
  

 For options outstanding at 31 December the range of exercise prices and weighted average contractual 
life is shown in the following table:  
 

  2013 2012 

   Contractual   Contractual  
   weighted    weighted   
  Number  average  Number  average  
  of shares  remaining life  of shares  remaining life  
 Range of exercise price  000s  years  000s  years  

 110p-145p  3,429  5.92  9,878  6.81  
 195p-220p  1,431  7.25  1,501  8.25  
  

 The weighted average share price during the year for options exercised over the year was 308.9p (2012: 
208.9p).  The total charge for the year relating to share-based payment plans was £14 million (2012: £6 
million) all of which related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions.  After deferred tax, the 
total charge was £14 million (2012: £6 million). 
 
Liabilities in respect of share-based payments were not material at either 31 December 2013 or 31 
December 2012.  There were no vested rights to cash or other assets at either 31 December 2013 or 31 
December 2012.   
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9 Goodwill and other intangible assets 
(a) Goodwill 
  2013  2012* 
  £m  £m  

 Cost     
 At 1 January 720  715  
 Businesses acquired  -  39  
 Currency variations (22) (34) 

 At 31 December 698  720  

 Accumulated impairment   
 At 1 January 168  181  
 Currency variations (14) (13) 

 At 31 December 154  168  

    
 Net book amount at 31 December 544  552  

  
 The carrying value of goodwill at 31 December comprised: 
  2013  2012  
 Reportable segment Business Geographical location £m  £m  

 Driveline Driveline Americas 113  118  
  Driveline Europe 63  63  
 Powder Metallurgy Hoeganaes North America 21  21  
 Aerospace Aerostructures North America 30  31  
  Engine Systems North America & Europe 37  38  
  Engine Products North America 92  93  
  Special Products North America 36  36  
 Land Systems Power Management Devices Europe 72  71  
  Wheels and Structures Italy 20  19  

    484  490  
 Other businesses not individually significant to the carrying value of goodwill 60  62  

  544  552  

 

 
*  restated for the impact of changes to the acquisition balance sheet related to the purchase of Volvo Aerospace on 1 October 
2012, see note 1. 
 

(b) Other intangible assets 

  2013 

     Assets arising on business combinations  

  Development  Participation  Computer  Marketing  Customer  Technology   

  costs  fees  software  related  related  based  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost          

 At 1 January 2013 320  133  91  12  467  239  1,262  

 Additions 47  1  10  -  -  -  58  

 Disposals -  -  (2) -  -  -  (2) 

 Currency variations (1) (6) (1) -  (6) (6) (20) 

 At 31 December 2013 366  128  98  12  461  233  1,298  

 Accumulated amortisation         

 At 1 January 2013 64  2  76  3  94  31  270  

 Charge for the year        

  Charged to trading profit 16  10  6  -  -  -  32  

  Non-operating intangible assets -  -  -  -  56  19  75  

 Disposals -  -  (2) -  -  -  (2) 

 Currency variations (2) (1) (1) -  (3) (2) (9) 

 At 31 December 2013 78  11  79  3  147  48  366  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2013 288  117  19  9  314  185  932  

        

 

  



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number: 66549 

Page 36 of 65 

 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

9 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 

(b) Other intangible assets (continued) 

  

  2012* 

     Assets arising on business combinations  

  Development  Participation  Computer  Marketing  Customer  Technology   

  costs  fees  software  related  related  based  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost          

 At 1 January 2012 170  -  91  12  271  107  651  

 Businesses acquired 92  133  -  -  204  136  565  

 Additions 56  -  8  -  -  -  64  

 Capitalised borrowing costs 3  -  -  -  -  -  3  

 Disposals -  -  (3) -  -  -  (3) 

 Businesses sold -  -  (2) -  -  -  (2) 

 Currency variations (1) -  (3) -  (8) (4) (16) 

 At 31 December 2012 320  133  91  12  467  239  1,262  

 Accumulated amortisation         

 At 1 January 2012 54  -  77  2  71  23  227  

 Charge for the year        

  Charged to trading profit 8  2  7  -  -  -  17  

  Non-operating intangible assets -  -  -  1  25  11  37  

 Disposals -  -  (3) -  -  -  (3) 

 Businesses sold -  -  (2) -  -  -  (2) 

 Currency variations 2  -  (3) -  (2) (3) (6) 

 At 31 December 2012 64  2  76  3  94  31  270  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2012 256  131  15  9  373  208  992  

        

 
*  restated for the impact of changes to the acquisition balance sheet related to the purchase of Volvo Aerospace on 1 October 2012, see note 1. 

 

 

Development costs of £96 million (2012: £78 million) and £9 million (2012: £11 million) in respect of two aerospace programmes are 
being amortised on a units of production basis.  There is £35 million (2012: £44 million) in respect of a customer relationship asset 
arising from one previous business combination with a remaining amortisation period of 4 years (2012: 5 years).  There are other 
intangible assets of £323 million (2012: £320 million) in respect of four programmes with a remaining amortisation period of 24 
years (2012: 25 years). 
 

(c) Impairment testing 

 An impairment test is a comparison of the carrying value of the assets of a business or cash generating unit (CGU) to their 
recoverable amount.  Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value, an impairment results.  During the year, all 
goodwill was tested for impairment with no impairment charges resulting. 

For the purposes of carrying out impairment tests, the Group's total goodwill has been allocated to a number of CGUs and each of 
these CGUs has been separately assessed and tested.  The size of a CGU varies but is never larger than a primary or secondary 
reportable segment.  In some cases, a CGU is an individual subsidiary or operation. 

Significant judgements, assumptions and estimates 
One CGU within the Group, Power Management Devices (Land Systems), has been assessed for impairment using an estimation 
of fair value less costs of disposal based on a multiple of EBITDA and recent comparable market prices.  Due to unfavourable 
market conditions in the year value in use was no longer considered to be a representative assessment for impairment testing.  The 
relevant assets of Power Management Devices have been assessed against fair value less costs of disposal.  The assessment 
used an assumed EBITDA taking into account past performance, and a market based multiple following a review of comparable 
companies within a peer group.  Sensitivity analysis on this CGU is provided below. 

All other CGUs’ recoverable amounts were measured based on value in use.  Detailed forecasts for the next five years have been 
used which are based on approved annual budgets and strategic projections representing the best estimate of future performance.  
In the case of certain CGUs within the Group’s Aerospace business, value in use at 31 December 2013 was measured using 
operating cash flow projections covering the next ten years which incorporate the anticipated timing of volumes on current 
programmes.  Management consider forecasting over this period to more appropriately reflect the length of business cycle of those 
CGU’s programmes, in particular the growth of certain military programmes. 

In determining the value in use of CGUs it is necessary to make a series of assumptions to estimate the present value of future 
cash flows.  In each case, these key assumptions have been made by management reflecting past experience and are consistent 
with relevant external sources of information. 

 

 
  



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number: 66549 

Page 37 of 65 

 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

9 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 
(c) Impairment testing (continued) 

Significant judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued) 

 

Operating cash flows 
The main assumptions within forecast operating cash flow include the achievement of future sales prices and volumes (including 
reference to specific customer relationships, product lines and the use of industry relevant external forecasts of global vehicle 
production within Driveline businesses and consideration of specific volumes on certain military and civil programmes within 
Aerospace), raw material input costs, the cost structure of each CGU and the ability to realise benefits from annual productivity 
improvements, the impact of foreign currency rates upon selling price and cost relationships and the levels of ongoing capital 
expenditure required to support forecast production.   

Pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates 
Pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates are derived from risk-free rates based upon long term government bonds in the territory, or 
territories, within which each CGU operates.  A relative risk adjustment (or “beta”) has been applied to risk-free rates to reflect the 
risk inherent in each CGU relative to all other sectors on average, determined using an average of the betas of comparable listed 
companies.  

The range of pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates set out below have been used for impairment testing.  The range of rates reflects 
the mix of geographical territories within CGUs within the reportable segments. 

Aerospace: Europe 11% (2012: 11%) and North America 12% (2012: 12%) 
Driveline:  North and South America 13%-24% (2012: 13%-24%), Europe 12%-14% (2012: 12%-14%) and Japan and Asia Pacific 
region countries 10%-19% (2012: 10%-17%) 
Powder Metallurgy:  Europe 12% (2012: 12%) and North America 13% (2012: 13%) 
Land Systems: Europe 11%-14% (2012: 11%-14%) and North America 13% (2012: 13%) 

Long term growth rates 
To forecast beyond the detailed cash flows into perpetuity, a long term average growth rate has been used.  In each case, this is not 
greater than the published International Monetary Fund average growth rate in gross domestic product for the next five year period 
in the territory or territories where the CGU is primarily based.  This results in a range of nominal growth rates:  
 
Aerospace: Europe 3% (2012: 3%) and North America 3% (2012: 3%) 
Driveline:  North and South America 3%-8% (2012: 3%-8%), Europe 2%-7% (2012: 2%-7%) and Japan and Asia Pacific region 
countries 2%-10% (2012: 2%-8%) 
Powder Metallurgy: Europe 4% (2012: 4%) and North America 3% (2012: 3%) 
Land Systems: Europe 2%-4% (2012: 2%-4%) and North America 3% (2012: 3%) 
 
Goodwill sensitivity analysis  
The results of the Group’s impairment tests are dependent upon estimates and judgements made by management, particularly in 
relation to the key assumptions described above.  Sensitivity analysis to potential changes in key assumptions has therefore been 
reviewed.   
 
At 31 December 2013, the date of the Group's annual impairment test, the estimated recoverable amount of one CGU within the 
Group's Aerospace operations using value in use and one CGU within the Group’s Land Systems operations using fair value less 
costs of disposal exceeded their carrying value by £188 million and £12 million respectively.   
 
The table below shows the discount rate, long term growth rate and forecast operating cashflow assumptions used in the calculation 
of value in use and the amount by which each assumption must change in isolation in order for the estimated recoverable amount to 
equal the carrying value. 

  

 Segment Aerospace 

 Business Engine Products  

 Value in use excess over carrying value £188m  

   

 Assumptions used in calculation of value in use  

  Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 12%  

  Long term growth rate 3%  

  Total pre-discounted forecast operating cashflow £865m  

 Change required for the carrying value to exceed the recoverable amount  

  Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 7.7%pts  

  Long term growth rate 86%pts  

  Total pre-discounted forecast operating cashflow 56%  
  

 
The table below shows the assumptions used in the calculation of fair value less costs of disposal and the amount by which each 
assumption must change in isolation in order for the estimated recoverable amount to equal the carrying value. 

  

 Segment Land Systems 

 Business 
Power Management 

Devices  

 Fair value less costs of disposal excess over carrying value £12m  

   

 Assumptions used in calculation of fair value less costs of disposal  

  EBITDA £19m  

  Multiple 8.5  

 Change required for the carrying value to exceed the recoverable amount  

  EBITDA 7%   

  Multiple 7%pts  
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10 Property, plant and equipment  

  2013 

    Other  Capital   

  Land and  Plant and  tangible  work in   

  buildings  machinery  assets  progress  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost           

 At 1 January 2013 764  3,773  145  148  4,830  

 Additions  20  101  5  165  291  

 Disposals  (7) (68) (8) -  (83) 

 Businesses sold -  (17) -  (2) (19) 

 Transfers  16  125  2  (143) -  

 Currency variations  (17) (108) 5  -  (120) 

 At 31 December 2013 776  3,806  149  168  4,899  

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment      

 At 1 January 2013 228  2,521  121  -  2,870  

 Charge for the year      

  Charged to trading profit       

   Depreciation 19  208  8  -  235  

   Impairments  -  2  -  -  2  

 Disposals  (5) (67) (9) -  (81) 

 Businesses sold -  (6) -  -  (6) 

 Currency variations  (5) (58) (3) -  (66) 

 At 31 December 2013 237  2,600  117  -  2,954  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2013 539  1,206  32  168  1,945  

   

  2012* 

    Other  Capital   

  Land and  Plant and  tangible  work in   

  buildings  machinery  assets  progress  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost           

 At 1 January 2012 744  3,646  149  130  4,669  

 Businesses acquired  40  140  2  5  187  

 Additions  12  115  4  132  263  

 Capitalised borrowing costs -  2  -  -  2  

 Disposals  (2) (66) (3) -  (71) 

 Businesses sold (1) -  (1) -  (2) 

 Transfers  8  101  2  (111) -  

 Currency variations  (37) (165) (8) (8) (218) 

 At 31 December 2012 764  3,773  145  148  4,830  

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment      

 At 1 January 2012 221  2,509  127  -  2,857  

 Charge for the year      

  Charged to trading profit       

   Depreciation 19  189  6  -  214  

   Impairments  1  3  -  -  4  

 Disposals  (1) (64) (3) -  (68) 

 Businesses sold (1) -  (1) -  (2) 

 Currency variations  (11) (116) (8) -  (135) 

 At 31 December 2012 228  2,521  121  -  2,870  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2012 536  1,252  24  148  1,960  

   

 

*  restated for the impact of changes to the acquisition balance sheet related to the purchase of Volvo Aerospace on 1 October 
2012, see note 1. 
 
Included within other tangible assets at net book amount are fixtures, fittings and computers £31 million (2012: £23 million) and 
commercial vehicles and cars £1 million (2012: £1 million).  The net book amount of assets under finance leases is land and 
buildings £1 million (2012: £2 million), plant and machinery £3 million (2012: £5 million) and other tangible assets nil (2012: nil). 
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11 Investments in joint ventures  

  

 Group share of results   

  2013  2012  

  £m  £m  

 Sales  458  394  

 Operating costs  (394) (345) 

 Trading profit  64  49  

 Net financing costs  (1) (1) 

 Profit before taxation  63  48  

 Taxation  (9) (7) 

 Share of post-tax earnings - before exceptional and non-trading items 54  41  

 Exceptional and non-trading items (2) (3) 

 Share of post-tax earnings  52  38  

    

 
Exceptional and non-trading items represent amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on business 
combinations and other net financing charges including tax of nil (2012: nil). 

  

 Group share of net book amount 

  2013 2012 

  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 153  147  

 Share of post-tax earnings  52  38  

 Actuarial losses on post-employment    

  obligations, including deferred tax -  (2) 

 Dividends paid (44) (41) 

 Additions 19  5  

 Disposals -  (1) 

 Currency variations (1) (3) 

  179  143  

 Financial guarantee contract -  10  

 At 31 December 179  153  

    

  2013  2012  

  £m  £m  

 Non-current assets  156  129  

 Current assets  160  148  

 Current liabilities  (111) (98) 

 Non-current liabilities  (36) (36) 

   169  143  

 Financial guarantee contract 10  10  

   179  153  

    

 

The joint ventures have no significant contingent liabilities to which the Group is exposed and nor has the Group 
any significant contingent liabilities in relation to its interest in the joint ventures.  The share of capital 
commitments of the joint ventures is shown in note 25. 
 
On 2 January, 2013 the Group provided £8 million of cash funding to Emitec, a 50% joint venture, in equal 
proportion to the other venturer.  In addition the Group has a guarantee contract with Emitec’s external bankers 
with regard to future debt repayment.  The guarantee contract has been valued at £10 million (2012: £10 million) 
based on future forecasts and an estimate of the probability of default if the guarantee were not in place.  The 
guarantee contract is included above with a corresponding liability (shown in note 18). 
 
On 24 December 2013, the Group sold its 49% joint venture interest in Composite Technology and Applications 
Ltd (CTAL) for £3 million.  The carrying value on the date of disposal was nil, resulting in a profit on sale of 
£3 million, shown in note 4.  Prior to disposal the Group had invested £4 million of cash during 2013. 
 
On 7 November 2013, the Group sold its controlling interest in GKN Driveline Torque Technology (Shanghai) Co. 
Ltd (TSH) to Shanghai GKN HUAYA Driveline Systems Co Limited (SDS) , a joint venture company.  The 
transaction took the Group’s ownership in TSH from 100% to 50%.  The addition to joint ventures of £15 million 
was matched by a £15 million cash contribution into SDS by the other venturer. 
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12 Other receivables and investments    
  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Other investments 4  4  
 Indirect taxes and amounts recoverable under employee benefit plans 23  21  
 Other receivables 17  13  
 Amounts due from joint ventures 8  -  

   52  38  

  

 

Other investments represents the Group’s 31% shareholding (25% on a fully diluted basis) in Evo Electric Limited. 
 

Included in other receivables is a £7 million (2012: £6 million) indemnity asset. 
 
Amounts due from joint ventures are detailed further in note 26. 

  

13 Inventories  

  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Raw materials  404  399  
 Work in progress  337  307  
 Finished goods  190  179  

  931  885  

 

 

Inventories of £79 million (2012: £68 million) are carried at net realisable value.  The amount of any write down of 
inventory recognised as an expense in the year was £1 million (2012:  £2 million).   
 

14 Trade and other receivables  

  2013  2012  
   £m  £m  

 Trade receivables  951  936  
 Amounts owed by joint ventures  11  13  
 Other receivables  109  56  
 Prepayments  29  54  
 Indirect taxes recoverable  42  43  

   1,142  1,102  

 Provisions for doubtful debts against trade receivables    
 At 1 January  (8) (12) 
 Charge for the year   
  Additions (3) (3) 
  Unused amounts reversed  2  2  
 Amounts used  1  5  

 At 31 December  (8) (8) 

 Trade receivables subject to provisions for doubtful debts  8  8  

 
   Ageing analysis of trade receivables and amounts owed by joint ventures past due  
     but not impaired   

    Up to 30 days overdue  44  50  
    31 – 60 days overdue  8  11  
    61 – 90 days overdue  3  3  
    More than 90 days overdue  6  7  

  

 There is no provision against other receivable categories. 
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15  Trade and other payables  

  2013 2012 

  Current  Non-current  Current  Non-current  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Amounts owed to suppliers and customers (1,047) (15) (955) (77) 
 Amounts owed to joint ventures (8) -  (6) -  
 Accrued interest (15) -  (17) -  
 Government refundable advances (5) (88) -  (88) 
 Deferred and contingent consideration (6) (6) (73) (12) 
 Payroll taxes, indirect taxes and audit fees (100) (1) (77) (1) 
 Amounts due to employees and employee benefit plans (206) (42) (167) (72) 
 Government grants (1) (8) (3) (8) 
 Customer advances and deferred income (97) (77) (94) (70) 

  (1,485) (237) (1,392) (328) 

 

 
Government refundable advances are forecast to fall due for repayment between 2014 and 2055.  Non-current 
deferred and contingent consideration falls due as follows:  one-two years £6 million (2012: £6 million) and two-five 
years nil (2012: £6 million).  Non-current amounts owed to suppliers and customers fall due within two years. 
 

Contingent consideration of £6 million (2012: £9 million) is included as payable based upon the Filton site achieving 
certain levels of sales in 2014 and 2015.  The range of contingent consideration payable is nil to £6 million (2012: 
nil to £9 million).  During 2013, a further £12 million was paid in cash relating to the Filton acquisition during 2009. 
 
During 2013, £62 million of deferred consideration relating to the purchase of Aerospace Engine Systems in 2012 
was paid in cash.  There was no change to goodwill as a result of this settlement. 
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16 Net borrowings  
  

(a) Analysis of net borrowings  

  Notes  Current    Non-current Total  

   Within   One to two  Two to five  More than  Total   
   one year   years  years  five years    
    £m    £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2013         
 Unsecured capital market borrowings         
  £450 million 5⅜% 2022 unsecured bond  i -   -  -  (445) (445) (445) 
  £350 million 6¾% 2019 unsecured bond   i -   -  -  (348) (348) (348) 
 Unsecured committed bank borrowings         
  European Investment Bank i -   (16) (48) (16) (80) (80) 
  2016 Committed Revolving Credit Facility  -   -  -  -  -  -  
  2017 Committed Revolving Credit Facility  -   -  -  -  -  -  
  Other (net of unamortised issue costs)  -   (8) (7) -  (15) (15) 
 Finance lease obligations  iii -   -  (1) -  (1) (1) 
 Bank overdrafts   (3)  -  -  -  -  (3) 
 Other short term bank borrowings   (24)  -  -  -  -  (24) 

 Borrowings   (27)  (24) (56) (809) (889) (916) 

 Bank balances and cash   153   -  -  -  -  153  
 Short term bank deposits  ii 31   -  -  -  -  31  

 Cash and cash equivalents iv 184   -  -  -  -  184  

 Net borrowings   157   (24) (56) (809) (889) (732) 

          
 2012         
 Unsecured capital market borrowings         
  £450 million 5⅜% 2022 unsecured bond  i -   -  -  (444) (444) (444) 
  £350 million 6¾% 2019 unsecured bond   i -   -  -  (348) (348) (348) 
 Unsecured committed bank borrowings         
  European Investment Bank i -   -  (48) (32) (80) (80) 
  2013 Committed Revolving Credit Facility  (20)  -  -  -  -  (20) 
  2016 Committed Revolving Credit Facility  -   -  (51) -  (51) (51) 
  2017 Committed Revolving Credit Facility  -   -  -  -  -  -  
  Other  -   (5) (8) -  (13) (13) 
 Other secured US$ denominated loan   (3)  -  -  -  -  (3) 
 Finance lease obligations  iii (1)  -  (1) -  (1) (2) 
 Bank overdrafts   (57)  -  -  -  -  (57) 
 Other short term bank borrowings   (34)  -  -  -  -  (34) 

 Borrowings   (115)  (5) (108) (824) (937) (1,052) 

 Bank balances and cash   177   -  -  -  -  177  
 Short term bank deposits  ii 4   -  -  -  -  4  

 Cash and cash equivalents iv 181   -  -  -  -  181  

 Net borrowings   66   (5) (108) (824) (937) (871) 

          

 

Unsecured capital market borrowings include: an unsecured £350 million (2012: £350 million) 6¾% bond maturing in 2019 less 
unamortised issue costs of £2 million (2012: £2 million) and an unsecured £450 million (2012: £450 million) 5⅜% bond maturing in 
2022 less unamortised issue costs of £5 million (2012: £6 million).   
 
Unsecured committed bank borrowings include £80 million (2012: £80 million) drawn under the Group’s European Investment 
Bank unsecured facility.  The loan is due for repayment in five equal annual instalments of £16 million, commencing in June 2015 
and attracts a fixed interest rate of 4.1% per annum payable annually in arrears.  There were no drawings against the Group’s 
2016 and 2017 Committed Revolving Credit Facilities of £837 million (2012: £71 million).  Unamortised issue costs on the 2016 
and 2017 Committed Revolving Credit Facilities were £5 million (2012: £6 million). 
 
Notes  
 

 (i) Denotes borrowings at fixed rates of interest until maturity.  All other borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are at 
variable interest rates unless otherwise stated. 

   
 (ii) The average interest rate on short term bank deposits was 0.4% (2012: 0.5%).  Deposits at both 31 December 2013 and 31 

December 2012 had a maturity date of less than one month. 
   
 (iii) Finance lease obligations gross of finance charges fall due as follows: nil within one year (2012: £1 million), £1 million in 

one to five years (2012: £1 million) and nil in more than five years (2012: nil). 
   
 (iv) £6 million (2012: £14 million) of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are held by the Group’s captive insurance company 

to maintain solvency requirements and as collateral for Letters of Credit issued to the Group’s principal external insurance 
providers.  These funds cannot be circulated within the Group on demand. 
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16 Net borrowings (continued) 
(b) Fair values  

  2013 2012 

  Book value  Fair value  Book value  Fair value  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Borrowings, other financial assets and cash and cash equivalents       
 Other borrowings  (888) (939) (959) (1,021) 
 Finance lease obligations  (1) (1) (2) (2) 
 Bank overdrafts and other short term bank borrowings  (27) (27) (91) (91) 
 Bank balances and cash  153  153  177  177  
 Short term bank deposits  31  31  4  4  

  (732) (783) (871) (933) 

 Trade and other payables     
 Government refundable advances (93) (111) (88) (99) 
 Deferred and contingent consideration (12) (12) (85) (85) 

  (105) (123) (173) (184) 

 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating fair values for financial instruments: 
 
Unsecured bank overdrafts, other short term bank borrowings, bank balances and cash and short term bank deposits 
approximate to book value due to their short maturities.  For other amounts, the repayments which the Group is committed to 
make have been discounted at the relevant interest rates applicable at 31 December 2013.  Bonds included within other 
borrowings have been valued using quoted closing market values.   

  

17 Financial risk management  
 

 

The Group’s activities give rise to a number of financial risks:  market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  Market risk includes 
foreign currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and commodity price risk.  The Group has in place risk 
management policies that seek to limit the effects of financial risk on financial performance.  Derivative financial instruments, 
mainly forward foreign currency contracts, are used to hedge risk exposures that arise in the ordinary course of business.  
Further information is provided in the treasury management section of the  Strategic Report. 
 
Risk management policies have been set by the Board and are implemented by the central Treasury Department that receives 
regular reports from all the operating companies to enable prompt identification of financial risks so that appropriate actions may 
be taken.  The Treasury Department has a policy and procedures manual that sets out specific guidelines to manage foreign 
currency risks, interest rate risk, financial credit risk and liquidity risk and the use of financial instruments to manage these. 
 

 

(a) Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases by operating subsidiaries in currencies 
other than the subsidiaries’ functional currency.  These exposures are forecast on a monthly basis by operating companies 
and are reported to the central Treasury Department.  Under the Group’s foreign currency policy, such exposures are 
hedged on a reducing percentage basis over a number of forecast time horizons using forward foreign currency contracts. 
 
The Group’s reporting currency for its consolidated financial statements is sterling.  Changes in exchange rates will affect 
the translation of results and net assets of operations outside of the UK.  The Group's largest exposures are the euro and 
the US dollar where a 1% movement in the average rate impacts trading profit of subsidiaries and joint ventures by £1 
million and £4 million respectively. 
 
Regarding financial instruments a 1% strengthening of sterling against the currency rates indicated below would have the 
following impact on operating profit: 

       

   Trading profit:    

   Payables  Derivative   
   and  financial  Intra-group  
   receivables  instruments  funding  
   £m  £m  £m  

  Euro 0.3  (1.4) 1.8  
  US dollar  (0.4) 19.3  1.0  

       

  

The derivative sensitivity analysis has been prepared by reperforming the calculations used to determine the balance sheet 
values adjusted for the changes in the individual currency rates indicated with all other cross currency rates remaining 
constant.  The sensitivity is a fair value change relating to derivatives for which the underlying transaction has not occurred 
at 31 December 2013.  The Group intends to hold all such derivatives to maturity.  The analysis of other items has been 
prepared based on an analysis of a currency balance sheet.  
 
Analysis of net borrowings by currency: 
 

   2013 

 

2012 

 

   Borrowings  

Cash and  
cash  

equivalents  Total  Borrowings  

Cash and  
cash  

equivalents  Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

  Sterling  (869) 40  (829) (972) 21  (951) 
  US dollar  (1) 10  9  (7) 25  18  
  Euro   -  23  23  (24) 29  5  
  Others  (46) 111  65  (49) 106  57  

   (916) 184  (732) (1,052) 181  (871) 
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17 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 

(b) Interest rate risk 
 
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk on fixed rate borrowings and cash flow interest rate risk on variable 
rate net borrowings/funds.  The Group's policy is to optimise interest cost in reported earnings and reduce volatility in the 
debt related element of the Group's cost of capital.  This policy is achieved by maintaining a target range of fixed and 
floating rate debt for discrete annual periods, over a defined time horizon.  The Group's normal policy is to require interest 
rates to be fixed for 50% to 80% of the level of underlying borrowings forecast to arise over a 12 month horizon.  At 31 
December 2013, 96% (2012: 82%) of the Group's gross borrowings were subject to fixed interest rates.     
 
As at 31 December 2013, £31 million (2012: £4 million) was in bank deposits, £3 million of which was on deposit with 
banks on the Isle of Man (2012: £4 million). 
 

 (c) Credit risk 
 
The Group is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to financial instruments.  
In terms of substance, and consistent with the related balance sheet presentation, the Group considers it has two types of 
credit risk; operational and financial.  Operational credit risk relates to non-performance by customers in respect of trade 
receivables and by suppliers in respect of other receivables.  Financial credit risk relates to non-performance by banks and 
similar institutions in respect of cash and deposits, facilities and financial contracts, including forward foreign currency 
contracts. 
 
Operational  
 
As tier-one suppliers to automotive, land systems and aerospace original equipment manufacturers the Group may have 
substantial amounts outstanding with a single customer at any one time.  The credit profiles of such original equipment 
manufacturers are available from credit rating agencies.  The failure of any such customer to honour its debts could 
materially impact the Group's results.  However, there are many advantages in these relationships.  In Land Systems there 
are a greater proportion of amounts receivable from small and medium sized customers.   
 
Credit risk and customer relationships are managed at a number of levels within the Group.  At a subsidiary level 
documented credit control reviews are required to be held at least every month.  The scope of these reviews includes 
amounts overdue and credit limits.  At a divisional level debtor ratios, overdue accounts and overall performance are 
reviewed regularly.  Provisions for doubtful debts are determined at these levels based upon the customer's ability to pay 
and other factors in the Group's relationship with the customer.   
 
At 31 December the largest 5 trade receivables as a proportion of total trade receivables analysed by major segment is as 
follows: 

     

   2013  2012  
    %  %  

  Aerospace 69  69  
  Driveline 54  56  
  Powder Metallurgy 21  19  
  Land Systems 23  25  

     

  

The amount of trade receivables outstanding at the year end does not represent the maximum exposure to operational 
credit risk due to the normal patterns of supply and payment over the course of a year.  Based on management information 
collected as at month ends the maximum level of trade receivables at any one point during the year was £1,156 million 
(2012: £1,055 million). 
 
Financial 
 
Credit risk is mitigated by the Group’s policy of only selecting counterparties with a strong investment graded long term 
credit rating, normally at least A- or equivalent, and assigning financial limits to individual counterparties. 
 
The maximum exposure with a single bank for deposits is £28 million (2012: £4 million), whilst the maximum mark to 
market exposure for forward foreign currency contracts at 31 December 2013 to a single bank was £11 million (2012: 
£11 million).   
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17 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 (d) Capital risk management 
   

  

The Group defines capital as total equity.  The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
a capital structure which optimises the cost of capital.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 
 
The Group monitors borrowings on the basis of the ratio of gross borrowings to EBITDA.  The Group seeks to operate at a 
gross debt to EBITDA of subsidiaries ratio of 3 times or less and the ratios at 31 December 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 

     
   2013  2012* 
   £m  £m  

  Gross borrowings 916  1,052  
  EBITDA 866  739  

  Gross borrowings to EBITDA ratio 1.1 times 1.4 times 
     

  

The Group's two external banking covenants require an EBITDA of subsidiaries to net interest payable and receivable ratio 
of 3.5 times or more and net debt to EBITDA of subsidiaries of 3 times or less measured at 30 June and 31 December.  
The ratios at 31 December 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 

     

   2013  2012* 
   £m  £m  

  EBITDA  866  739  
  Net interest payable and receivable (excluding borrowing costs capitalised) (73) (57) 

  EBITDA to net interest payable and receivable ratio  11.9 times 13.0 times 
     

   2013  2012* 
   £m  £m  

  Net debt 732  871  
  EBITDA 866  739  

  Net debt to EBITDA ratio 0.8 times 1.2 times 

  

 

*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1. 

 
The Group monitors these ratios on a rolling basis and they are part of the budgeting and forecasting processes. 

   

 (e) Liquidity risk 

   

  

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as part of its normal financing and trading cycle at times when peak borrowings are 
required.  Borrowings normally peak in May and September following dividend and bond coupon payments.  The Group's 
policies are to ensure that sufficient liquidity is available to meet obligations when they fall due and to maintain sufficient 
flexibility in order to fund investment and acquisition objectives.  Liquidity needs are assessed through short and long term 
forecasts.  Committed bank facilities total £837 million of which £595 million expires in 2016 and £242 million in 2017.  There 
were no drawings on these facilities at 31 December 2013.  In addition the Group’s European Investment Bank unsecured 
facility (£80 million) is repayable in five equal annual instalments of £16 million commencing in June 2015.  Committed 
facilities are provided through 16 banks. 
 
The Group also maintains £82 million of uncommitted facilities, provided by 4 banks.  There were no drawings against these 
facilities at 31 December 2013. 

   

  Maturity analysis of borrowings, derivatives and other financial liabilities  

   Within  One to two  Two to five  More than   

   one year  years  years  five years  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

  2013           

  Borrowings (note 16) (27) (24) (56) (809) (916) 

  Contractual interest payments and finance lease charges  (53) (52) (151) (124) (380) 

  Government refundable advances (8) (9) (31) (126) (174) 

  Deferred and contingent consideration (6) (6) -  -  (12) 

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - receipts  250  181  212  40  683  

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - payments  (260) (185) (219) (39) (703) 

  2012           

  Borrowings (note 16) (115) (5) (108) (824) (1,052) 

  Contractual interest payments and finance lease charges  (57) (57) (154) (166) (434) 

  Government refundable advances (2) (8) (30) (137) (177) 

  Deferred and contingent consideration (74) (6) (6) -  (86) 

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - receipts  205  108  176  22  511  

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - payments  (213) (114) (189) (22) (538) 

   

  
There is no significant difference in the contractual undiscounted value of other financial liabilities from the amounts stated in 
the balance sheet and balance sheet notes. 
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17 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 (f) Commodity price risk 

   

  

The Group is exposed to changes in commodity prices, particularly of metals, which has a significant impact on input costs 
and the overall financial results.  The Group seeks to mitigate this exposure in a variety of ways including medium term price 
agreements, surcharges and advance purchasing.  In rare circumstances and only in respect of certain specified risks the 
Group uses derivative commodity hedging instruments.  The impact of such financial instruments in respect of the overall 
commodity price risk is not material.   

   

 (g) Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities  

   

     Held for trading  

   Loans and  Amortised  Financial  Financial   

   receivables  cost  assets  liabilities  Total  

    £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

  2013           

  Other receivables and investments  25  -  -  -  25  

  Trade and other receivables  1,071  -  -  -  1,071  

  Amounts receivable from parent undertaking 2,239  -  -  -  2,239  

  Derivative financial instruments  -  -  94  (48) 46  

  Cash and cash equivalents  184  -  -  -  184  

  Borrowings  -  (916) -  -  (916) 

  Trade and other payables  -  (1,190) -  -  (1,190) 

  Amounts payable to parent undertaking -  (8) -  -  (8) 

  Provisions  -  (81) -  -  (81) 

   3,519  (2,195) 94  (48) 1,370 

  2012*           

  Other receivables and investments  13  -  -  -  13  

  Trade and other receivables  1,005  -  -  -  1,005  

  Amounts receivable from parent undertaking 2,125  -  -  -  2,125  

  Derivative financial instruments  -  -  81  (50) 31  

  Cash and cash equivalents  181  -  -  -  181  

  Borrowings  -  (1,052) -  -  (1,052) 

  Trade and other payables  -  (1,228) -  -  (1,228) 

  Amounts payable to parent undertaking -  (8) -  -  (8) 

  Provisions  -  (86) -  -  (86) 

   3,324  (2,374) 81  (50) 981  

  

 
*  restated for the impact of changes to the acquisition balance sheet related to the purchase of Volvo Aerospace on 1 
October 2012 and for the presentation of share purchase in parent company, see note 1. 

   

  

IFRS13 
 
The financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are forward currency contracts, 
commodity contracts and embedded derivatives.  All of these financial instruments are classified as Level 2 fair value 
measurements, as defined by IFRS 7, being those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable. 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities have been determined with reference to available market 
information at the balance sheet date, using the methodologies described in their relevant notes: 
 

 Forward currency contracts, commodity contracts and embedded derivatives, see note 18; 

 Unsecured bank overdrafts, other short term bank borrowings, bank balances and cash and short term bank deposits, 
see note 16; 

 Bonds included within other borrowings, see note 16; and 

 Fair values of trade receivables and payables, short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents are assumed to 
approximate to cost due to the short-term maturity of the instruments and as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 
The discounted contingent element of deferred and contingent consideration of £6 million (2012: £8 million) is categorised as 
a Level 3 fair value measurement, see note 15.   
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18 Derivative financial instruments 

  

  2013 2012 

  Assets Liabilities Total  Assets Liabilities Total  

  
Non-  

current 
Current  Non-  

current 
Current   Non-  

current 
Current  Non-  

current 
Current   

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Forward currency contracts           

  Not hedge accounted 41  41  (20) (10) 52  38  26  (21) (10) 33  

 Embedded derivatives 11  1  (7) (1) 4  16  1  (8) (1) 8  

 Financial guarantee contract -  -  (10) -  (10) -  -  (10) -  (10) 

  52  42  (37) (11) 46  54  27  (39) (11) 31  

            

  

 

Significant judgement and estimates 

 
Forward foreign currency contracts and embedded derivatives are marked to market using market observable rates 
and published prices together with forecast cash flow information where applicable.  The amounts in respect of 
embedded derivatives represent commercial contracts denominated in US dollars between European Aerospace 
subsidiaries and customers outside the USA. 
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19 Provisions 

  Contract   Claims and  Employee    
  provisions  Warranty  litigation  obligations  Other  Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 2013* (86) (44) (17) (23) (12) (182) 

 Net charge for the year:       

  Additions  (5) (12) (4) (1) (1) (23) 

  Unused amounts reversed 3  5  1  -  -  9  

 Unwind of discounts (10) -  -  -  -  (10) 

 Amounts used  12  13  3  2  1  31  

 Currency variations  5  (2) -  -  (2) 1  

 At 31 December 2013 (81) (40) (17) (22) (14) (174) 

 Due within one year  (15) (22) (9) (4) (5) (55) 
 Due in more than one year  (66) (18) (8) (18) (9) (119) 

   (81) (40) (17) (22) (14) (174) 

  

 

*  restated for the impact of changes to the acquisition balance sheet related to the purchase of Volvo Aerospace on 1 October 
2012, see note 1. 

Significant estimates and judgement  

Whilst estimating provisions requires judgement, the range of reasonably possible outcomes is narrow.  After 
consideration of sensitivity analysis, amounts stated represent management’s best estimate of the likely outcome. 

Contract provisions 

The Group has a small number of onerous contracts and a non-beneficial lease arrangement, primarily arising on 
business combinations.  Onerous contracts relate to customer programmes where the unavoidable costs of 
delivering product are in excess of contracted sales prices. 

Utilisation of the provision due in more than one year is estimated as £8 million in 2015 and £58 million from 
2016. 

Warranty 

Provisions set aside for warranty exposures either relate to amounts provided systematically based on historical 
experience under contractual warranty obligations attaching to the supply of goods or specific provisions created 
in respect of individual customer issues undergoing commercial resolution and negotiation.  In the event of a 
claim, settlement will be negotiated with the customer based on supply of replacement products and 
compensation for the customer's associated costs.  Amounts set aside represent management's best estimate of 
the likely settlement and the timing of any resolution with the relevant customer.   

Utilisation of the provision due in more than one year is estimated as £8 million in 2015 and £10 million from 
2016. 

Claims and litigation 

Claims provisions are held in the Group’s captive insurance company and amount to £8 million (2012: £6 million).  
Claims provisions and charges are established in accordance with external insurance and actuarial advice. 

Legal provisions amounting to £4 million (2012: £5 million) relate to management estimates of amounts required 
to settle or remove litigation actions that have arisen in the normal course of business.  Further details are not 
provided to avoid the potential of seriously prejudicing the Group's stance in law.  Amounts unused and reversed 
only arise when the matter is formally settled or when a material change in the litigation action occurs where legal 
advice confirms lower amounts need to be retained to cover the exposure. 

As a consequence of primarily legacy activities a small number of sites in the Group are subject to environmental 
remediation actions, which in all cases are either agreed formally with relevant local and national authorities and 
agencies or represent management's view of the likely outcome having taken appropriate expert advice and 
following consultation with appropriate authorities and agencies.  Amounts of £5 million (2012: £6 million) have 
been provided. 

Utilisation of the provision due in more than one year is estimated as £3 million in 2015 and £5 million from 2016. 

Employee obligations 

Long service non-pension and other employee related obligations arising primarily in the Group's continental 
European subsidiaries amount to £22 million (2012: £23 million). 

Utilisation of the provision due in more than one year is expected as follows:  £2 million in 2015, £1 million in 
2016, £1 million in 2017 and £14 million from 2018. 

Other 

Other provisions include £4 million (2012: £6 million) in relation to previous reorganisation arising from the 
Group’s strategic restructuring programmes and £10 million (2012: £6 million) relating to other customer and 
supplier exposures.  Utilisation of the provision due in more than one year is estimated as follows:  £1 million in 
2015 and £8 million from 2016. 
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20 Share capital 

  Authorised Issued and Fully Paid 

  2013  2012  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Ordinary shares of 50p each 450  450  362  362  

      
  Authorised Issued and Fully Paid 

  2013  2012  2013  2012  
  Number  Number  Number  Number  
  000s  000s  000s  000s  

 Ordinary shares of 10p each 900,000  900,000  724,632  724,632  

  
21 Cash flow reconciliations   

  2013  2012* 
 Cash generated from operations  £m  £m  

 Operating profit 560  624  
 Adjustments for:   
 Depreciation, impairment and amortisation of fixed assets   
  Charged to trading profit   
   Depreciation 235  214  
   Impairment 2  4  
   Amortisation 32  17  
  Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations 75  37  
 Change in value of derivative and other financial instruments (26) (126) 
 Amortisation of government capital grants (3) (3) 
 Net profits on sale and realisation of fixed assets (1) (3) 
 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure (12) (5) 
 Charge for share-based payments 14  6  
 Pension scheme curtailments and related cash -  (99) 
 Movement in post-employment obligations (47) (24) 
 Change in amounts due from parent undertaking (114) 51  
 Change in inventories (74) 73  
 Change in receivables (74) (70) 
 Change in payables and provisions 101  (107) 

  668  589  

    
 Movement in net debt   
 Movement in cash and cash equivalents 67  (6) 
 Net movement in other borrowings and deposits 83  (323) 
 Costs associated with refinancing -  9  
 Finance leases (1) (1) 
 Currency variations  (10) (12) 

 Movement in year 139  (333) 
 Net debt at beginning of year (871) (538) 

 Net debt at end of year (732) (871) 

    
 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents   

 Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet 184  181  
 Bank overdrafts included within "current liabilities - borrowings" (3) (57) 

 Cash and cash equivalents per cashflow 181  124  

    
 * restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised) and for presentation of share purchase in parent company, see note 1. 
 
On 28 February 2013, the Group established a Chinese subsidiary Lianyungang GKN Hua Ding Wheels Company 
Limited (the Company) in partnership with Lianyungang Huading Wheel Company Limited.  As part of the 
agreement the partner contributed £2 million of fixed assets to the Company in return for 35% of the share capital 
of the Company.  On consolidation, the fixed assets value contributed on establishment of the Company is 
matched by a corresponding non-controlling interest. 
 
Cash outflow in respect of previous restructuring plans was £2 million (2012: £4 million).   
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22 Post-employment obligations   

  2013  2012  

 Post-employment obligations as at the year end comprise: £m  £m  

 Pensions - funded (742) (422) 

  - unfunded (462) (481) 

 Medical - funded (21) (24) 

  - unfunded (46) (51) 

  (1,271) (978) 

    
 The Group’s pension arrangements comprise various defined benefit and defined contribution schemes throughout the world.  In 

addition, in the USA and UK various plans operate which provide members with post-retirement medical benefits.  The Group’s 
post-employment plans in the UK, USA and Germany together account for 98% of plan assets and 97% of plan liabilities.  
 
The Group’s post-employment plans include both funded and unfunded arrangements.  The UK pension schemes are funded, 
albeit in deficit in common with many other UK pension schemes, with the scheme assets held in trustee administered funds.  The 
German and other European plans are generally unfunded, with pension payments made from company funds as they fall due, 
rather than from scheme assets.  The USA includes a combination of funded and unfunded pension and medical plans, whilst 
Japan also operates a funded pension plan.  
 
The Group’s defined benefit pension arrangements provide benefits to members in the form of an assured level of pension 
payable for life.  The level of benefits provided typically depends on length of service and salary levels in the years leading up to 
retirement.  In the UK and Germany, pensions in payment are generally updated in line with inflation, whereas in the USA 
pensions generally do not receive inflationary increases once in payment.  The UK and German schemes are closed to new 
entrants, whilst with one small exception, the USA schemes are closed to future accrual. 
 
Independent actuarial valuations of all major defined benefit scheme assets and liabilities were carried out at 31 December 2013.  
The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related service cost elements were measured using the projected unit 
credit method. 
 

(a)   Defined benefit schemes – significant judgements, assumptions and estimates 
 
Key assumptions: 

  UK     

  GKN1 GKN2 Americas Europe ROW 

  % %  %   %   %  

 2013          

 Rate of increase in pensionable salaries n/a 4.30 n/a 2.50 - 

 Rate of increase in payment and deferred pensions 3.25 3.30 n/a 1.75 n/a 

 Discount rate 4.20 4.50 4.80 3.50 1.25 

 Inflation assumption 3.25 3.30 n/a 1.75 n/a 

 Rate of increase in medical costs:      

  Initial/long term 5.5/5.5 7.5/5.0 n/a n/a 

 2012          

 Rate of increase in pensionable salaries n/a 3.90 n/a 2.50 - 

 Rate of increase in payment and deferred pensions 3.00 3.00 2.00 1.75 n/a 

 Discount rate 3.80 4.30 4.10 3.20 1.45 

 Inflation assumption 2.80 2.90 n/a 1.75 n/a 

 Rate of increase in medical costs:      

  Initial/long term 6.1/6.1 8.0/5.0 n/a n/a 

  

 

The UK schemes each use a duration specific discount rate derived from the Mercer pension discount yield curve, which is based 
on corporate bonds with two or more AA-ratings.  The European discount rate was calculated with reference to the duration 
adjusted yield on the index of iBoxx Euro Corporate rated AA bonds with a maturity of 10 years plus, and Aon Hewitt’s German 
discount rate yield curve.  For the USA, the discount rate referenced the Citigroup intermediate pension liability index, the Merrill 
Lynch US corporate AA 10+ years index and the Towers Watson Rate:LINK benchmark. 
 
The underlying mortality assumptions for the major schemes, are as follows: 
 

 

United Kingdom 
Data on the UK schemes’ mortality experience is collected and reviewed annually.  The key current year mortality assumptions for 
both GKN1 and GKN2 use S1NA year of birth mortality tables with CMI 2013 improvements and a 1.25% p.a. long term 
improvement trend.  These assumptions give the following expectations for each scheme: for GKN1 a male aged 65 lives for a 
further 21.7 years and a female aged 65 lives for a further 23.7 years whilst a male aged 45 is expected to live a further 23.4 years 
from age 65 and a female aged 45 is expected to live a further 25.6 years from age 65.  For GKN2 a male aged 65 lives for a 
further 22.7 years and a female aged 65 lives for a further 25.0 years whilst a male aged 45 is expected to live a further 24.5 years 
from age 65 and a female aged 45 is expected to live a further 27.0 years from age 65. 
 

 

Overseas 
In the USA, PPA2013 tables have been used whilst in Germany the RT2005-G tables have been used.  In the USA, the longevity 
assumption for a male aged 65 is that he lives a further 19.2 years (female 21.1 years) whilst in Germany a male aged 65 lives for 
a further 18.7 years (female 22.8 years).  The longevity assumption for a USA male currently aged 45 is that he also lives for a 
further 19.2 years once attaining 65 years (female 21.1 years), with the German equivalent assumption for a male being 21.4 
years (female 25.3 years).  These assumptions are based on the prescribed tables, rather than GKN experience. 
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22 Post-employment obligations (continued) 
(a)   Defined benefit schemes – significant judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued) 

 

 

Assumption sensitivity analysis 
The impact of a one percentage point movement in the primary assumptions (longevity:  1 year) on the defined benefit net 
obligations as at 31 December 2013 is set out below: 
 

  UK  Americas  Europe  ROW  

  
Liabilities  

£m  
Liabilities  

£m 
Liabilities  

£m  
Liabilities  

£m 

 Discount rate +1% 383  32  64  3  

 Discount rate -1% (479) (38) (82) (3) 

 Rate of inflation +1% (416) -  (54) -  

 Rate of inflation -1% 344  -  46  -  

 Life expectancy +1 year (100) (8) (15) -  

 Life expectancy -1 year 97  8  13  -  

 Health cost trend +1% (2) (1) -  -  

 Health cost trend -1% 2  1  -  -  

  

 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on isolated changes in each assumption, whilst holding all other assumptions constant.  
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and there is likely to be some level of correlation between movements in different 
assumptions, although the above sensitivities are shown to illustrate at a high level the scale of sensitivity of the balance sheet to 
key actuarial assumptions.  The same actuarial methods have been used to calculate these sensitivities as are used to calculate 
the relevant balance sheet values, and have not changed compared to the previous period. 
 

 Judgements and estimates 
 
Pension partnership interest 
On 31 March 2010, the Group agreed an asset-backed cash payment arrangement with the Trustee of the UK pension scheme 
via a pension partnership arrangement, which entitled the UK pension scheme to a distribution of £30 million per annum for 20 
years, subject to discretion exercisable by the Group in certain circumstances.  When the UK pension scheme was split into two 
separate schemes during 2012, the income interest was also split accordingly.  The income interest has previously been 
recognised as an IAS 19 plan asset, having been valued on a discounted cash-flow basis, with the corresponding non-controlling 
interest in equity, in line with the Group’s application of IAS 32 “Financial Instruments : Presentation”, rather than being shown as 
a liability.   
 
During 2012 the Group had been monitoring reporting developments in respect of asset-backed pension arrangements.  It had 
noted a public reference to the concerns of the Financial Reporting Review Panel, in relation to accounting for pension 
partnerships, before its successor body, the Conduct Committee of the Financial Reporting Council (‘FRC’) approached the Group 
about its accounting for the arrangement in the 2011 Annual Report.  The Board and Audit Committee, which debated extensively 
the FRC Conduct Committee’s position on the accounting, valuation and associated disclosures for the asset-backed cash 
payment arrangement, concluded in February 2013 that there were no grounds to make amendments at that time; a position 
supported by external legal and accounting advice.  The Group’s view was not shared by the FRC’s Conduct Committee.  
 
Following the February Audit Committee meeting it was agreed to review possible amendments to the asset-backed pension 
arrangement that, with no change to the underlying economics of the arrangement, would give the Group greater control over the 
future of the partnership and address for the future the FRC Conduct Committee’s concerns.  The resultant amendments to 
agreements were made in May 2013 and reported at the 2013 half year.  The changes in the pension arrangements resulted in a 
simpler accounting treatment which, post the changes, also addresses the concerns raised by the FRC’s Conduct Committee.  
Discussions with the FRC’s Conduct Committee were satisfactorily bought to a close in early 2014. 
 
As noted, the accounting and disclosure for this arrangement has changed during 2013 following the amendments to the pension 
partnership agreement agreed with the Trustees of the two UK pension schemes.  The most significant amendment introduced 
restrictions on the ability of each UK pension scheme to sell or otherwise transfer its respective income interest.  Besides giving 
the Group greater control over the future of the pension partnership, the result of this change is that the respective income 
interests no longer meet the criteria for recognition as an IAS 19 plan asset and have, consequently, been removed with an 
effective date of 31 May 2013.  This increases the Group’s reported post-employment obligation deficit by an amount of £342 
million being the fair value at 31 May 2013, and eliminates the non-controlling interest of £332 million which was previously 
recognised in equity in relation to the schemes’ income interests.  The remaining difference of £10 million has been recognised in 
equity within retained earnings, as it represents a transaction with equity holders. 
 
During the year the Group has paid a combined amount of £30 million (2012: £30 million) to the two UK pension schemes through 
the pension partnership.  £20 million (2012: £nil million) of this amount was paid following the removal of the pension partnership 
plan asset, so is included within the amount of contributions/benefits paid, and £10 million (2012: £30 million) was paid as a 
distribution from the pension partnership to the UK Pension scheme, before the effective date of the new agreement. 
 
For comparative purposes only, if the partnership amendment had an effective date of 1 January 2012 (the beginning of the 
comparative period), rather than 31 May 2013, the pro forma net amounts for “Post employment obligations” reported at the 
previous balance sheet date 31 December 2012 would have been £1,320 million.  The amount actually reported at 31 December 
2012 was £978 million.  Similarly, the pro forma balance sheet value of “Non-controlling interests” would have been £19 million at 
31 December 2012 compared to the amount actually reported at 31 December 2012 £353 million.  
 
In the income statement, pro forma “Other net financing charges” would have increased by £16 million from £26 million to £42 
million for the year end 31 December 2012, as result of a full period impact. 
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22 Post-employment obligations (continued) 
(b)   Defined benefit schemes - reporting 

 The amounts included in operating profit are: 
   
  Total  
  £m  

 2013  
 Current service cost and administrative expenses (54) 

  (54) 

 2012  
 Current service cost and administrative expenses (47) 
 Settlement/curtailments 54  

  7  

  

 The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are: 
  2013  

  UK  Americas  Europe  ROW  Total  2012  
  £m   £m  £m   £m   £m  £m  

 Present value of unfunded obligations  (16) (37) (453) (2) (508) (532) 
 Present value of funded obligations  (2,973) (253) (38) (31) (3,295) (3,205) 
 Fair value of plan assets 2,275  203  36  18  2,532  2,759  

 Net obligations recognised in the balance sheet (714) (87) (455) (15) (1,271) (978) 

  
  

 

 
 
In the UK, the Group is required to complete a statutory valuation of its pension schemes at least every three years and to agree 
a recovery plan to eliminate any resulting deficit.  Both UK pension schemes have undergone a funding valuation as at 5 April 
2013 and as at 31 December 2013 the Group was close to agreement on recovery plans with the scheme trustees.  The Group’s 
UK pension funding deficit is lower than the equivalent UK accounting deficit. 
 
Subsequent to the year end, the UK funding valuation has been agreed in principle, subject only to execution of final 
documentation.  This has resulted in additional UK deficit recovery payments of £10 million per year commencing in 2014 and 
the potential for further additional payments commencing in 2015, contingent upon asset performance.  In addition the Group has 
also agreed, in early 2014, to pay £2 million per year for 4 years to UK scheme, GKN1, to cover a funding requirement arising 
from a £123 million bulk annuity purchase in 2014.  
 
The continuing contribution expected to be paid by the Group during 2014 to the UK schemes is £38 million and a distribution of 
£30 million is expected to be made from the UK pension partnership to the UK schemes in the first half of 2014.  This brings the 
total expected UK cash requirement for 2014 to £80 million.  The expected 2014 contribution to overseas schemes is 
£31 million.  

  
 Cumulative remeasurement of defined benefit plan differences recognised in equity are as follows: 
  2013  2012*  
  £m  £m  

 At 1 January (787) (635) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 60  (152) 

 At 31 December (727) (787) 

    
 Movement in schemes' obligations (funded and unfunded) during the year 
  UK  Americas   Europe  ROW   Total  
  £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 At 1 January 2013 (2,863) (344) (490) (40) (3,737) 
 Current service cost (39) (2) (8) (2) (51) 
 Administrative expenses (3) -  -  -  (3) 
 Interest  (116) (15) (16) (1) (148) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (106) 30  17  (1) (60) 
 Benefits and administrative expenses paid 138  37  21  4  200  
 Currency variations -  4  (15) 7  (4) 

 At 31 December 2013 (2,989) (290) (491) (33) (3,803) 

 At 1 January 2012 (2,663) (469) (383) (46) (3,561) 
 Businesses acquired  -  -  (158) -  (158) 
 Current service cost (33) (2) (6) (3) (44) 
 Administrative expenses* (3) -  -  -  (3) 
 Settlements/curtailments -  123  152  -  275  
 Interest* (123) (17) (18) -  (158) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans* (167) (15) (106) (1) (289) 
 Benefits and administrative expenses paid 130  15  17  4  166  
 Contributions by participants (4) -  -  -  (4) 
 Currency variations -  21  12  6  39  

 At 31 December 2012 (2,863) (344) (490) (40) (3,737) 
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22 Post-employment obligations (continued) 
(b)   Defined benefit schemes – reporting (continued) 
 Movement in schemes' assets during the year      
  UK  Americas   Europe  ROW   Total  
   £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 At 1 January 2013 2,522  181  36  20  2,759  
 Interest  95  7  1  -  103  
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 86  30  -  4  120  
 Contributions by Group 49  4  -  2  55  
 Benefits paid (135) (13) (1) (4) (153) 
 Removal of pension partnership plan asset (342) -  -  -  (342) 
 Currency variations -  (6) -  (4) (10) 

 At 31 December 2013 2,275  203  36  18  2,532  

 At 1 January 2012 2,391  248  31  23  2,693  
 Businesses acquired  -  -  91  -  91  
 Settlements/curtailments -  (88) (133) -  (221) 
 Interest* 114  7  1  -  122  
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans* 111  19  4  3  137  
 Contributions by Group 30  21  44  2  97  
 Benefits paid (128) (15) (1) (5) (149) 
 Contributions by participants 4  -  -  -  4  
 Currency variations -  (11) (1) (3) (15) 

 At 31 December 2012 2,522 181  36  20  2,759  

  

 

*  restated for the impact of IAS 19 (revised), see note 1 
 

 Remeasurement gains and losses in relation to schemes’ obligations are as follows 
  
  UK Americas Europe ROW Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2013      
 Experience gains and losses (5) 3  (5) -  (7) 
 Changes in financial assumptions (30) 28  22  (1) 19  
 Change in demographic assumptions (71) (1) -  -  (72) 

  (106) 30  17  (1) (60) 

 2012      
 Experience gains and losses (3) -  (2) -  (5) 
 Changes in financial assumptions (160) (14) (104) (1) (279) 
 Change in demographic assumptions (4) (1) -  -  (5) 

  (167) (15) (106) (1) (289) 

  
 The fair values of the assets in the schemes were: 
  UK Americas Europe ROW Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 At 31 December 2013      
 Equities (inc. hedge funds) 882  123  -  9  1,014  
 Bonds - government 443  33  -  5  481  
 Bonds - corporate 736  37  -  1  774  
 Property 104  -  -  -  104  
 Cash and net current assets 78  10  -  -  88  
 Other assets 32  -  36  3  71  

  2,275  203  36  18  2,532  

 At 31 December 2012      
 Equities (inc. hedge funds) 775  121  -  8  904  
 Bonds - government 447  36  -  5  488  
 Bonds - corporate  763  20  -  2  785  
 Property 97  -  -  -  97  
 Cash and net current assets 63  4  -  -  67  
 Partnership plan asset (GKN1/ GKN2) 342  -  -  -  342  
 Other assets 35  -  36  5  76  

  2,522  181  36  20  2,759  

  
 As at 31 December 2013, the equities in the UK asset portfolio were split 26% domestic; 74% foreign, whilst bond holdings were 

89% domestic and 11% foreign.  The equivalent proportions for the USA plans were:  equities 75% / 25%; bonds 97% / 3%.  
Further geographical diversification of the USA portfolio is planned to take place. 
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22 Post-employment obligations (continued) 
(c) Defined benefit scheme – risk factors 
  
 Through its various post-employment pension and medical plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most 

significant of which are detailed below.  The Group’s focus is on managing the cash demands which the various pension plans 
place on the Group, rather than balance sheet volatility in its own right.  For funded schemes cash requirements are generally 
determined by funding valuations which are performed on a different basis from accounting valuations.  
 
Asset volatility: Plan liabilities are calculated using discount rates set with reference to bond yields (although the discount rate 
methodology differs for accounting and funding purposes).  If plan assets deliver a return which is lower than the discount rate, 
this will create or increase a plan deficit.  GKN’s various pension plans hold a significant proportion of equities and similar 
‘growth assets’, which are expected to out-perform bonds in the long-term, albeit at the risk of short term volatility.   
 
As the plans mature, with a shorter time horizon to cope with volatility, the Group will gradually reduce holdings of growth 
assets in favour of increased matching assets (bonds and similar).  In the meantime, the Group considers that equities and 
similar assets are an appropriate means of managing pension funding requirements, given the long term nature of the liabilities 
and the strength of the Group to withstand volatility.  
 
Changes in bond yields: A decrease in bond yields will typically increase plan liabilities (and vice-versa), although this will be 
offset partially by an increase in the value of bonds held in the asset portfolios of the various plans.  The effect of changes in 
bond yields is more pronounced in unfunded schemes where there is no potential for an offsetting movement in asset values.    
 
Inflation risk: As UK and some European pension obligations are linked to inflation, higher inflation expectations will lead to 
higher liabilities, although caps are in place to protect against unusually high levels of inflation.  The UK asset portfolio includes 
some inflation linked bonds to provide an element of protection against this risk, whilst additional protection is provided by 
inflation derivatives.  
 
Member longevity: As the Group’s post-employment obligations are generally to provide benefits for the life of the member, 
increases in life expectancy will generally result in an increase in plan liabilities (and vice versa). 
 

(d) Defined benefit schemes – demographic factors 
  
 Weighted average duration is a measurement technique designed to represent the estimated average time to payment of all 

cash-flows arising as a result of defined benefit obligations (i.e. pension payments and similar).  The weighted average duration 
of the defined benefit obligations in the UK, USA and Germany are as follows: 
 

   Years 

 UK GKN 1 11  
  GKN 2 17  
 US  13  
 Germany  16  

  
Defined benefit obligations are classified into those representing “active” members of a scheme or plan (i.e. those who are 
currently employed by the Group), “deferred” members (i.e. those who have accrued benefit entitlements, but who are no 
longer employed by the Group and are not yet drawing a pension) and “pensioner” members who are currently in receipt of a 
pension.  Additional information regarding the average age, number of members and value of the defined benefit obligation in 
each of these categories for the UK, USA and Germany are given below:  
 

   Active Deferred Pensioner 

 
  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  

 UK GKN 1 -  -  -  53  6,656  85  78  20,659  783  
  GKN 2 46  5,036  562  52  7,321  618  72  6,466  925  
 US  53  2,804  88  54  2,943  54  74  4,253  133  
 Germany  51  2,695  184  56  889  34  71  2,906  227  

  
 Within the UK, there are two pension schemes referred to as GKN1 and GKN2.  GKN1 is a mature scheme, comprised 

primarily of pensioner members, which is already at peak annual cash outflow (benefit payments); whilst GKN2 is less mature, 
with a larger active and deferred population.  Benefit payments from GKN2 are forecast to continue to rise until the mid 2030s, 
when they will peak, before beginning to decline. 

  
(e) Defined contribution schemes 
  

 
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes outside the United Kingdom.  The charge to the income 
statement in the year was £34 million (2012: £21 million). 
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23 Contingent assets and liabilities  

  

 

Aside from the unrecognised contingent asset referred to in note 6 in respect of Franked Investment 
Income, there were no other material contingent assets at 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2013. 

 
In the case of certain businesses, performance bonds and customer finance obligations have been 
entered into in the normal course of business.   
 

  

24 Operating lease commitments - minimum lease payments  

  

 The minimum lease payments which the Group is committed to make at 31 December are: 

  

  2013 2012 

   Vehicles,   Vehicles,  

   plant and   plant and  

  Property  equipment  Property  equipment  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Payments under non-cancellable operating leases:      

 Within one year  26  13  25  12  

 Later than one year and less than five years 86  24  78  22  

 After five years 119  3  110  3  

  231  40  213  37  

  

25 Capital expenditure 

  

 

Contracts placed against capital expenditure sanctioned at 31 December 2013 which are not provided 
by subsidiaries amounted to £91 million property, plant and equipment, £17 million intangible assets 
(2012: £96 million property, plant and equipment, £18 million intangible assets) and the Group's share 
not provided by joint ventures amounted to £5 million property, plant and equipment, nil intangible 
assets (2012: £20 million property, plant and equipment, nil intangible assets). 

  

26 Related party transactions  

  

 

In the ordinary course of business, sales and purchases of goods take place between subsidiaries and 
joint venture companies priced on an arm’s length basis.  Sales by subsidiaries to joint ventures in 
2013 totalled £44 million (2012: £65 million).  The amount due at the year end in respect of such sales 
was £11 million (2012: £13 million).  Purchases by subsidiaries from joint ventures in 2013 totalled 
£2 million (2012: £36 million).  The amount due at the year end in respect of such purchases was nil 
(2012: nil). 

  

 

At 31 December 2013, a Group subsidiary had £8 million payable to a joint venture company in 
respect of an unsecured financing facility bearing interest at 1 month LIBOR plus 1

/8% (2012: £6 
million). 
 

 
There was an £8 million loan receivable from a joint venture at 31 December 2013 (2012: nil), which is 
interest bearing at 4.5% and is due for repayment in 2016. 
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27 Principal Subsidiaries 

 

The following represent the principal subsidiary undertakings of the GKN Group at 31 December 2013.  
These subsidiaries were included in the consolidation and are held indirectly by the Company through 
intermediate holding companies.  The undertakings located overseas operate principally in the country 
of incorporation.  The equity share capital of these undertakings is wholly owned by the GKN Group.  
 
A full list of subsidiaries and joint ventures will be attached to the next annual return of the Company. 
 

 
Subsidiary Country of 

incorporation 
Interest 

 GKN Aerospace Chem-tronics Inc USA Common stock 

 GKN Aerospace North America, Inc USA Common stock 

 GKN Aerospace Services Ltd England Ordinary shares 

 GKN Aerospace Sweden AB Sweden Ordinary shares 

 GKN do Brasil Ltda Brazil Quota capital 

 GKN Driveline Celaya SA de CV Mexico Ordinary shares 

 GKN Driveline Deutschland GmbH Germany Ordinary shares 

 GKN Driveline Japan Ltd Japan Ordinary shares 

 GKN Driveline Köping AB Sweden Ordinary shares 

 GKN Driveline Newton LLC* USA Membership interest (no share capital) 

 GKN Driveline North America Inc USA Common stock 

 GKN Driveline Polska Sp. Zo.o Poland Ordinary shares 

 GKN Sinter Metals, LLC** USA Membership interest (no share capital) 

 GKN Sinter Metals SpA Italy Ordinary shares 

 GKN Westland Aerospace, Inc USA Common stock 

 Hoeganaes Corporation USA Common stock 

    

 
* The principal place of business of GKN Driveline Newton LLC is 1848 GKN Way, Newton, North Carolina, 

USA. 

 
** The principal place of business of GKN Sinter Metals LLC is 3300 University Drive, Auburn Hills, Michigan, 

USA. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GKN HOLDINGS PLC 
 
Report on the company financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements, defined below: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2013; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report. 

What we have audited 

The company financial statements (the “financial statements”), which are prepared by GKN Holdings plc, 
comprise: 

 the balance sheet as at 31 December 2013; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, 
for example in respect of significant accounting estimates.  In making such estimates, they have made 
assumptions and considered future events. 

Certain disclosures required by the financial reporting framework have been presented elsewhere in the 
Annual Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual Report”), rather than in the notes to the financial 
statements.  These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited. 

What an audit of financial statements involves 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK 
& Ireland)”).  An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  This includes an assessment of:  

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and  

 the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit.  If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Directors’ remuneration 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of 
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made.  We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.  
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1  Significant accounting policies and basis of preparation 

 

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006.  They 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention except where other measurement bases are required to 
be applied and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and law.  In accordance with 
FRS 1 (revised 1996) the Company has taken advantage of the exemption not to prepare a cash flow statement.  
As the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 7, the Company is exempt 
from the disclosure requirements of FRS 29.  Other new accounting standards issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board and effective from 1 January 2013 have had no impact on the financial statements of the 
Company.   
 
The principal accounting policies are summarised below.  They have been applied consistently in both years 
presented. 
 

 

Investments 

Fixed asset investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost less provision for impairment.  Fixed asset investments 
are reviewed at least annually for indications of impairment with any resulting impairment charges taken to the 
profit and loss account.  When events or circumstances arise that indicate that previously charged impairments 
may have reversed; recoverable amounts are reassessed and any impairment reversal is taken to the profit and 
loss account. 
 

 

Profit and loss account 

Turnover represents revenue receivable in respect of trademark fees charged to GKN Group companies for using 
the GKN trademark and logo and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable which equates to 
the invoiced amount excluding sales taxes.  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.  
Dividend and other investment income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.  Current tax 
is recognised in the profit and loss account unless items relate to equity. 
 

 

Foreign currencies 

Where practicable, transactions involving foreign currencies are protected by forward contracts.  Assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the appropriate forward contract rate or, if not covered, at the 
exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date.  Differences on revenue transactions are dealt with through the 
profit and loss account. 
 

 

Taxation 

Provision is made for deferred tax in so far as a liability or asset arises as a result of transactions that have 
occurred by the balance sheet date and give rise to an obligation to pay more tax in the future, or a right to pay 
less tax in the future.  A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it may be considered recoverable.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
 

 

Dividends 

The annual final dividend is not provided for until approved at the annual general meeting whilst interim dividends 
are charged in the period they are paid. 
 
Post-employment benefits 

The Company’s pension arrangements comprise defined benefit and defined contribution schemes in the UK.  The 
Company’s pension arrangements are made through externally funded defined benefit schemes, the contributions 
to which are based on the advice of independent actuaries or in accordance with the rules of the schemes.  
 
The Company accounts for all post-employment defined benefit schemes through full recognition of the schemes’ 
surpluses or deficits on the balance sheet at the end of each year.  Actuarial gains and losses of defined benefit 
plans are included in the statement of recognised gains and losses.  Current and past service costs, curtailments 
and settlements are recognised within operating profit.  The expected return on plan assets and interest charge on 
defined benefit obligations are recognised as finance costs in the income statement. 
 
For defined contribution arrangements the cost charged to the income statement represents the Group’s 
contributions to the relevant schemes in the year in which they fall due. 
 

2  Profit and loss account 

 

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own profit and 
loss account for the year.  The loss for the year ended 31 December 2013 was £127 million (2012: £119 million 
profit). 
 
Auditors' remuneration for audit services to the Company was less than £0.1 million (2012: less than £0.1 million). 
 
The Directors received no remuneration for their services to the Company (2012: nil). 
 
Two Directors exercised share options over GKN plc shares during the year (2012: three). 
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 

3  Taxation 

 Changes in UK tax rate 

 

A reduction in the mainstream rate of UK corporation tax to 23% took effect from 1 April 2013 which gives rise to an 
effective UK tax rate of 23.25% for the year.  Further reductions to the main rate have been enacted to reduce the 
mainstream rate by 2% to 21% on 1 April 2014 and a further 1% to 20% on 1 April 2015.  At the balance sheet date 
the timing differences have been measured at the rate at which they are expected to reverse. 
 
The recognised deferred tax asset of £55 million (2012: £73 million) comprises tax losses of £45 million (2012: 46 
million), pension amounts of £10 million (2012: £16 million) and other timing differences of nil (2012: £11 million). 
 

4 Fixed asset investments    
   Accumulated  Carrying  
  Cost  impairment  value  
 Investments in subsidiary undertakings £m  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 1,099  -  1,099  

  

 
Principal subsidiary companies, the investments in which are held through intermediate holding companies are 
shown in note 27 of the consolidated financial statements. 

  
5 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 Amounts owed to Group undertakings (2) -  
 Other creditors (1) -  
 Accruals (13) (12) 

  (16) (12) 

 

 
Amounts owed by and owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, interest bearing, have no fixed date of 
repayment and are repayable on demand. 
 

6 Borrowings 

   Current  Non-Current Total  

   Within  One to  Two to  
More 
than    

   one  two  five  five    

  Note year  years  years  years  Total   

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

 2013        

 £450 million 5⅜% 2022 unsecured bond (i) -  -  -  (445) (445) (445) 

 £350 million 6¾% 2019 unsecured bond (i) -  -  -  (348) (348) (348) 

 
£80 million 4.1% unsecured amortising 
loan (i) -  (16) (48) (16) (80) (80) 

 Unamortised issue costs - RCFs  -  2  3  -  5  5  

   -  (14) (45) (809) (868) (868) 

 2012        

 £450 million 5⅜% 2022 unsecured bond (i) -  -  -  (444) (444) (444) 

 £350 million 6¾% 2019 unsecured bond (i) -  -  -  (348) (348) (348) 

 
£80 million 4.1% unsecured amortising 
loan (i) -  -  (48) (32) (80) (80) 

 Committed Revolving Credit Facilities  (20) -  (51) -  (51) (71) 

   (20) -  (99) (824) (923) (943) 

         

 Notes: 

 
(i) Denotes borrowings at fixed rates of interest until maturity.  All other borrowings are at variable interest rates unless 

otherwise stated. 

  

 

Unsecured capital market borrowings include: an unsecured £350 million (2012: £350 million) 6¾% bond maturing in 2019 less 
unamortised issue costs of £2 million (2012: £2 million) and an unsecured £450 million (2012: £450 million) 5⅜% bond maturing in 
2022 less unamortised issue costs of £5 million (2012: £6 million).   
 
Unsecured committed bank borrowings include £80 million (2012: £80 million) drawn under the Group’s European Investment 
Bank unsecured facility.  The loan is due for repayment in five equal annual instalments of £16 million, commencing in June 2015 
and attracts a fixed interest rate of 4.1% per annum payable annually in arrears.  There were no drawings against the Group’s 
2016 and 2017 Committed Revolving Credit Facilities of £837 million (2012: £71 million).  Unamortised issue costs on the 2016 
and 2017 Committed Revolving Credit Facilities were £5 million (2012: £6 million). 
 
The Company’s activities form an integral part of the GKN plc Group’s strategy with regard to financial instruments.  The GKN plc 
Group’s objectives, policies and strategies with regard to financial instruments are disclosed in full in the financial statements of 
GKN plc. 
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7 Post-employment obligations   
    
 In 2012, a single UK defined benefit pension scheme was split into two separate schemes (referred to as GKN1 and 

GKN2), each with different characteristics.  The GKN1 scheme does not qualify as a multi-employer arrangement as 
on 30 September 2012 the Company assumed all obligations.  Consequently the defined benefit obligation was 
recognised on the company balance sheet with subsequent defined benefit pension scheme accounting required.  
Assets and obligations related to GKN2 are not included on the company’s balance sheet because it has not been 
possible to identify separately the Company’s share of GKN2’s underlying assets and liabilities.  Therefore the 
company’s pension cost for GKN2 is based on contributions payable as assessed across the UK Group as a whole 
in accordance with the advice of professionally qualified actuaries.  The disclosure of the liability arising under the 
group pension schemes is contained in the consolidated Financial Statements of GKN plc which is calculated in 
accordance with the International Accounting Standard 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. 
 
An independent actuarial valuation of the defined benefit scheme assets and liabilities was carried out at 31 
December 2013.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and the past 
service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method.   
 

(a)   Defined benefit schemes – significant judgements, assumptions and estimates 
 
Key assumptions: 

     2013 2012 
     % % 

 2013      

 Rate of increase in pensionable salaries    n/a n/a 

 Rate of increase in payment and deferred pensions    3.25 3.00 

 Discount rate    4.20 3.80 

 Inflation assumption    3.25 2.80 
  

 

GKN1 uses a duration specific discount rate derived from the Mercer pension discount yield curve, which is based 
on corporate bonds with two or more AA-ratings. 
 

 

With regard to mortality assumptions, data on GKN1’s mortality experience is collected and reviewed annually.  The 
key current year mortality assumptions use S1NA year of birth mortality tables with CMI 2013 improvements and a 
1.25% p.a. long term improvement trend.  These assumptions give the following expectations: a male aged 65 lives 
for a further 21.7 years and a female aged 65 lives for a further 23.7 years whilst a male aged 45 is expected to live 
a further 23.4 years from age 65 and a female aged 45 is expected to live a further 25.6 years from age 65.   
 

 

Assumption sensitivity analysis 

The impact of a one percentage point movement in the primary assumptions on the defined benefit net obligations as 
at 31 December 2013 is set out below: 
 

   
Liabilities  

£m  

 Discount rate +1%  77  
 Discount rate -1%  (91) 
 Rate of inflation +1%  (78) 
 Rate of inflation -1%  65  

  
 Pension partnership interest 

On 31 March 2010 the Group agreed an asset-backed cash payment arrangement with the Trustee of the UK 
pension scheme to help address the UK pension funding deficit.  Details of the GKN Holdings plc Group impact is 
disclosed in note 22 of the consolidated financial statements which includes the removal of the pension partnership 
plan asset in the year.   
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7 Post-employment obligations (continued) 

(b)   Defined benefit schemes - reporting 

 There was no current service cost in the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: £nil). 

  

 The amounts recognised in the balance sheet at 31 December were: 

      2013  2012  
      £m  £m  

 Present value of funded obligations      (868) (881) 
 Fair value of plan assets     713  810  

 
Net obligations recognised in the balance 
sheet     (155) (71) 

  

 The contribution expected to be paid by the Company during 2014 to the scheme is £41 million.   
  

 Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity are £7 million (2012: £22 million). 
    

 Movement in schemes' obligations from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013: 

  2013  2012  
  £m  £m  

 At 1 January (881) -  
 Recognised liability -  (840) 
 Interest (32) (9) 
 Actuarial gains and losses (16) (51) 
 Benefits paid 61  19  

 At 31 December (868) (881) 
  

 Movement in schemes' assets from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013: 

     2013  2012  
     £m  £m  

 At 1 January    810  -  
 Recognised asset    -  790  
 Expected return on assets    33  9  
 Actuarial gains and losses    23  29  
 Contributions    21  2  
 Benefits paid    (61) (20) 
 Removal of pension partnership plan asset     (113) -  

 At 31 December    713  810  
  

 
The fair value of the assets in the scheme and the expected rates of return were: 
 

  2013  2012 

  Long term    Long term   
  rate of    rate of   
  return    return   
  expected  Value   expected  Value  
   %  £m  %  £m  

 At 31 December      
 Equities (inc. Hedge Funds) 7.8  207   7.8  183  
 Bonds 4.0  461   3.5  463  
 Property 6.6  24   6.6  23  
 Cash and net current assets 0.5  21   0.5  22  
 Partnership plan asset  -  -   4.4  119  

    713     810  

       

 

The expected return on plan assets is a blended average of projected long term returns for the various asset 
classes.  Equity returns are developed based on the selection of the equity risk premium above the risk-free rate 
which is measured in accordance with the yield on government bonds.  Bond returns are selected by reference to 
the yields on government and corporate debt, as appropriate to the plan's holdings of these instruments.  All other 
asset class returns are determined by reference to current experience.   

 

The actual return on plan assets was £56 million (2012: £38 million). 
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7 Post-employment obligations (continued) 

  

(c)   History of experience gains and losses 

    2013 2012 

    £m  £m  

 Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets:     

  Amount - £m   23  29  

  Percentage of scheme assets     3.2% 3.6% 

 Experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities:     

  Amount - £m   (4) -  

  Percentage of the present value of scheme liabilities     0.5% -  

 Present value of scheme liabilities - £m   (868) (881) 

 Fair value of scheme assets - £m   713  810  

 Deficit - £m   (155) (71) 

 
 
 

8 Reserves 

  Share  Other  Profit  

  premium  non-distributable  and loss  

  account  reserves  account  

   £m  £m   £m  

 At 1 January 2013 301  288  726  

 Loss for the year -  -  (127) 

 
Actuarial gains and losses on post-employment obligations (net of 
tax) -  -  10  

 At 31 December 2013 301  288  609  

  

 

Dividends paid to the parent undertaking in the year are nil (2012: nil). The actuarial gains and losses on post-
employments obligations include £3 million of tax which has been recorded in the statement of total recognised 
gains and losses (2012: nil). 
 
Details of the share capital of GKN Holdings plc are contained within note 20 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
 

9 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders' funds 

  

  2013  2012  

  £m  £m  

 At 1 January  1,677  1,580  

 (Loss)/profit for the year (127) 119  

 Actuarial gains and losses on post-employment obligations (net of tax) 10  (22)  

 At 31 December  1,560  1,677  

 

 
  

10 Contingent liabilities 

  

 

At 31 December 2013 the Company had no contingent liabilities in respect of bank and other guarantees (2012: nil).  
In the case of certain businesses, performance bonds and customer finance obligations have been entered into in 
the normal course of business. 

 
 
 

11 Related party transactions 

  

 
In accordance with FRS 8 the Company has taken advantage of the exemption not to disclose the transactions with 
wholly owned subsidiary undertakings.  There were no other related party transactions during the year. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number: 66549 

Page 65 of 65 

 Notes to the Financial Statements of GKN Holdings plc (continued) 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 

12 Ultimate and immediate parent company 

  

 
GKN plc is the ultimate and immediate parent company.  Copies of its financial statements may be obtained from 
PO Box 55, Ipsley House, Ipsley Church Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire, B98 0TL. 

 




